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                L i v i n g  i n  K O R E A  2 0 2 2

When you travel to or live in a foreign country, it is really 
important to be aware of basic information of the country. With 
such information, you can have a much better communication 
with people you meet in the country. It can serve as a method 
of naturally expressing your interest in that particular country. 
Especially, if you work there with a great knowledge and interest on 
the country, you can have various merits.

In addition, if you know about Korea such as the weather, currency, 
and public holidays, you can enjoy more convenience in Korea! 
Although Korea has only a small area of land, it has a lot of regions 
with different characteristics so you can have fun in learning 
about the regions one by one! Also, once you experience many 
convenient systems and rapid processing of diverse services in 
Korea, you would be reluctant to leave the country.

So, now let’s learn about Korea!
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Introduction to the Republic of Korea

General Information on Korea

1) Country Name, Location, and Area 
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Seoul Special City
Population: 9,509,458
Area: 605.25 km2

1

12 13 14 16 1715

9 10 11

*Source: KOSIS National Statistics Portal (as of December 2021)

2
Busan  
Metropolitan City
Population: 3,350,380
Area: 765.82 km2

3
Daegu  
Metropolitan City
Population: 2,385,412
Area: 884.15 km2

4
Incheon 
Metropolitan City
Population: 2,948,375 
Area: 1,063 km2

5
Gwangju 
Metropolitan City
Population: 1,441,611
Area: 501.3 km2

6
Daejeon 
Metropolitan City
Population: 1,452,251
Area: 539.98 km2

7
Ulsan Special City
Population: 1,121,592
Area: 1,060.79 km2

Sejong etropolitan 
Autonomous City
Population: 371,895 
Area: 1464.90 km2

Gyeonggi 
Province (Do)
Population: 13,565,450 
Area: 10,184 km2

Gangwon  
Province (Do)
Population: 1,538,492 
Area: 16,873.51km2

North Chungcheong  
Province (Do)
Population: 1,597,427 
Area: 7,407.7 km2

Jeju Special Self 
Governing Province (Do) 
Population: 676,759 
Area: 1,849.02 km2

South Gyeongsang  
Province (Do)
Population: 3,314,183 
Area: 10,537.97 km2

North Gyeongsang  
Province (Do)
Population: 2,626,609 
Area: 19,026.06 km2

South Jeolla   
Province (Do)
Population: 1,832,803 
Area: 12,095.06 km2

North Jeolla   
Province (Do)
Population: 1,786,855 
Area: 8,069.05 km2

South Chungcheong  
Province (Do)
Population: 2,119,257 
Area: 8,226.14 km2

Area 100,339.4 km2

Population 51,638,809

Administrative 
Districts

One special city, six metropolitan cities, 
one special autonomous city, eight provinces, 
and one special autonomous province
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The Republic of Korea is also called ‘Korea.’ Since the country is placed on the southern part of the 
Korean Peninsula, it is also called ‘South Korea’ as an expression in contrast with North Korea. 
The area of the Republic of Korea is 100,339.4 ㎢, which is similar to the area of Portugal (92,090 ㎢) 
and that of Hungary (93,030 ㎢). The southern and western parts of the Republic of Korea are mainly 
plain, and the eastern and northern parts are mountains. The center of the Republic of Korea, the 
Taebaek Mountains, reaches along the eastern coast, being also called the ‘Baekdudaegan Mountain 
Range.’ Korea has many mountains, but their altitude is generally low. The highest mountain in both 
South and North Koreas is Mt. Baekdu (2,744 m), but the highest one in South Korea is Mt. Halla in 
Jejudo Island at 1,950 m. Famous islands of South Korea include Jejudo, Geojedo, Jindo Island, and 
Ulleungdo.

General Information of Republic of Korea at a Glance

Country Name Republic of Korea Capital Seoul

Area 100,339.4 ㎢ (107th largest in the world) Population 51,638,809 Persons  
(Statistics Korea, ’21. 12)

Language Korean Currency Won (KRW)

Time 
Difference GMT + 9 hours* Religion Protestanism, Buddhism, 

Catholicism, etc.

E.g. If it is 4:00 p.m. in Korea, some part of the U.S. is 3:00 a.m. (- 14 hours), China is 3:00 p.m. (- 1 hour), and Japan is 4:00 p.m. (- 0 hour).

2) National Flag and National Flower

The national flag of the Republic of Korea is the Taegeukgi. The Taegeukgi consists of a white 
background, Taegeuk pattern in the center, and four trigrams of geon, gon, gam, yi on the four 
corners. The white background shows brightness, purity, and Koreans’ character that loves peace 
traditionally. The taegeuk pattern in the center symbolizes the harmony between the yin (negative, 
blue) and the yang (positive, red). The four trigrams show the development and changes of yin and 
yang. Of the four trigrams, ‘geon’ symbolizes the sky, ‘gon’ the earth, ‘gam’ the water, and ‘yi’ the fire. 
The flower representing Korea is Mugunghwa (hibiscus) since the flower grows wherever and its 
vitality that blooms new flowers every day is similar to Koreans’ character. 

National Flag of the Republic of Korea – Taegeukgi) National Flower of the Republic of Korea - Mugunghwa
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3) Public Holidays 

The legal public holidays of the Republic of Korea are 15 days a year.

Name Date Remarks
New Year's Day 
(Solar New Year) January 1 • The first day of a solar new year.

Seolnal  
(Lunar New Year)

Lunar  
January 1

•   The first day of a lunar new year, which is a representative holiday in 
the Republic of Korea

•   When people hold a memorial service for ancestors and greet each 
other and exchange good wishes and luck for each other

Samiljeol March 1 •   A day in commemoration of the independence movement against the 
Japanese colonial rule on March 1 in 1919.

The Day of  
Buddha’s Coming Lunar April 8 •   A day in commemoration of the birth of Buddha in Buddhism. Also 

called ‘Buddha’s Birthday.‘  

Children’s Day May 5 •    A day for considering the character of children precious and 
promoting happiness of children.

Memorial Day June 6
•   A ‘national memorial day’ for commemorating the loyalty of all those 

who have contributed to the development of the Korean people and 
the country and sacrificed their lives for the national defense. 

National  
Liberation Day August 15

•   A day in commemoration of the liberation from the Japanese colonial 
rule in 1945. the foundation of the government of the Republic of 
Korea in 1948.

•   It is also a day in commemoration of the foundation of the government 
of the Republic of Korea in 1948.

Chuseok  
(Korean 

Thanksgiving Day)

Lunar  
August 15

•   The largest Korean traditional holiday with the meaning of ‘the middle 
moon in autumn.’

•   On the day, Koreans hold a memorial service for ancestors with 
gratitude and rice cakes made of newly harvested rice and newly 
harvested fruits before finishing the harvest in autumn and then visit 
the toms of their ancestors.

National Foundation 
Day of Korea October 3 •   A day in commemoration of the foundation of the Dangun Joseon 

which is the first nation in the history of Korea.

Hangul Proclamation 
Day October 9 •    A day in commemoration of the establishment of Hangul, which is 

Korea’s own written language.

Christmas December 25 •   A holiday in commemoration of the birth of Jesus in Christianity. It is 
also called ‘Seongtanjeol’ in Korea.

*    From 2022, according to the ‘Act on Holidays,’ when a public holiday falls under Saturday, Sunday, or any other public 
holiday, the next day can be designated as a substitute holiday.
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4) Weather

The Republic of Korea has a temperate climate with clear four seasons thanks to its geographic 
location in the middle-latitude temperate climate zone. However, recently, due to climate change 
based on global warming, the summer is lengthened and the spring, fall, and winter are shortened. In 
January, which is the coldest month, the temperature even goes down to -18℃, and in August, the 
hottest month of the year, the temperature even rises up to 34℃ (as of 2021 in Seoul).
The humidity goes up even to 85% in summer, so the heat feels so severe. In addition, there is a rainy 
season in summer, and 50-60% of total annual rainfall comes in summer. 
In addition, recently, fine dust and ultrafine dust are in full swing in Korea. The concentration of fine 
dust is high from fall through spring in general, and it is lower in summer. 

How to avoid fine dust?

When there is too much fine dust, you had better wear a mask. 

The fine dust mask has a KF (Korea Filter) mark, which is an 

index showing the performance of the mask to protect you from 

hazardous substances such as yellow dust and fine dust. For 

instance, if a mask has a mark of KF80, it means the mask can filter 

out 80% or more of fine dust. That is, the higher the number, the 

higher the blocking rate, but it may be somewhat uncomfortable to 

breathe, so you had better select a mask by considering the fine dust 

concentration in the air and your breathing or the like. 
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5) Currency

(1) Currency Unit

The currency unit is won (KRW, ￦). The average exchange rate in 2021 is as below. 
1 USD: 1,132.66 won / 1 euro: 1,354.04 won / 100 yen: 1,042.84 won / 1 yuan: 175.08 won

(2) Types of Currency

The Republic of Korea’s currency includes coins (10 won, 50 won, 100 won, 500 won) and bills 
(1,000 won, 5,000 won, 10,000 won, and 50,000 won). On top of that, you can use checks of 
various amounts of 100,000 won or above.

1,000 won

10,000 won

100,000 won

5,000 won

50,000 won

10 won 50 won 100 won 500 won
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6) Religion

The Republic of Korea guarantees the freedom of religion by the Constitution. There is no leading 
religion in Korea, with various religious groups acting including Protestants, Buddhists, and Catholics. 
Recently, there is a gradual increase in the population with no religion at all (60% as of 2021), and 
since 2005, the Buddhists have decreased while the Protestants have increased, so since 2015, the 
Protestants (17% as of 2021) rank first among the religious people. 

7) Central Administrative Agencies and Local Governments 

(1) Central Administrative Agencies 

The central administrative agencies are installed for being in charge of administrative affairs of 
the nation, with a range of jurisdictional authority reaching all over the Republic of Korea. The 
head is the country's president, and the Prime Minister assists the president to supervise the 
departments of the central government. Ministers direct and supervise each department to 
execute plans determined by laws in the National Assembly. The administration of the Republic of 
Korea consists of a total of 54 units including 18 ministries, five agencies, 18 offices, two services, 
five boards,  and seven commissions (as of September 2021). Among the seven commissions, 
the National Human Rights Commission of Korea is an independent agency. 
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Presidential Security Service 
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and Inspection
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Korea Communications
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(QR code for the 
English names 

of the ministries 
and agencies)

*  You can check the English names of the ministries and agencies at  
  http://english1.president.go.kr/President/Administration
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(2) Local Governments 

The Republic of Korea’s local governments are classified into two types according to the Local 
Autonomy Act. There are 17 metropolitan local governments (including special city, metropolitan 
cities, provinces, special autonomous city, special autonomous province) and 226 primary local 
governments (cities, counties, boroughs (si/gun/gu)).
Each local government has local public servants appointed by the head of the local government 
elected by direct voting of residents, along with execution agencies made of national public servants 
appointed by the president and ministers due to request of the head of the local government. In 
addition, there is a local assembly elected by the direct voting of residents. The local assembly takes 
charge of enactment, amendment, and abolition of local ordinances, examination and determination 
of budget, approval of settlement of accounts, audit and examination of administrative office work, 
processing of petitions or the like. The local government uses the budget based on the local taxes, 
various commissions and fees, other sorts of income other than taxes, local grant tax from the central 
government of the Republic of Korea, national subsidies, etc. 

Seoul

Busan
Daegu

Incheon
Gwangju
Daejeon

Ulsan

Sejong

Gyeonggi-do
Gangwon-do

Chungcheongbuk-do
Chungcheongnam-do

Jeollabuk-do
Jeollanam-do

Gyeongsangbuk-do
Gyeongsangnam-do

Jeju

Special City Metropolitan City Special
Autonomous City Province Special Autonomous 

Province
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Introduction to the Republic of Korea

Legal System of Korea 

1) Structures of Laws and Decrees

The laws and decrees of the Republic of Korea are composed of the Constitution, Acts, Presidential 
Decrees, Prime Minister's Decrees, and Minister’s Decrees under the system of written laws. The 
upper laws have a superior effect to that of the lower laws, and in principle, the lower laws shall not 
violate the upper laws. The legislative power for the laws belongs to the National Assembly, that for 
the Presidential Decrees to the President, and that for the Prime Minister’s Decrees and the Minister's 
Decrees respectively to the Prime Minister and the Ministers of the Ministries.

2) Types of Laws and Decrees

(1) Constitution

The Constitution is the highest law in the Republic of Korea, regulating basic matters such as 
those on the rights and freedom of the Koreans, and the compositions and operation of national 
institutions such as the National Assembly. The Constitution serves as the foundation and 
grounds for the enactment and revision of all lower laws and decrees in the Republic of Korea.

(2) Acts

The Acts are enacted by the National Assembly which has the right to legislation. The Acts 
regulate matters on basic operation of the country and those on the rights and duties of the 
Koreans, etc. based on the entrustment of the Constitution. The Acts determine and regulate the 
principle of legality, the principle of no taxation without law, the requirements for acquiring the 
Korean nationality, the expropriation and compensation for property rights, installation of each 
Ministry in the administration, types of local governments, etc. 

(3) Treaties

Treaties are agreements between countries written on documents. Generally approved 
international laws and regulations refer to international practices whose legal force is 
acknowledged in general in the international community. Those treaties concluded and publicly 
declared according to the Constitution and generally approved international laws and regulations 
have the same effect as that of the domestic laws in the Republic of Korea. 
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(4) Decrees

Decrees are laws and regulations established by the administration. The Presidential Decrees 
include delegated orders and executive orders, which are issued by the President who is 
the head of the administration. The Presidential Decrees cover all administrative operations. 
The Prime Ministerial Ordinances are enacted on matters related to the Ministry of Personnel 
Management, the Ministry of Government Legislation, the Ministry of Patriots and Veterans 
Affairs, etc. which are direct institutions of the Prime Minister in the administration. The Prime 
Ministerial Ordinances are in general on the same level as that of the Ministerial Ordinances. 

(5) Administrative Rules

The Administrative rules are enacted for presenting standards for performing duties and 
processing work in the administrative agencies.

(6) Local Laws and Regulations

The local laws and regulations refer to the laws and decrees on the self-government of the local 
governments, which are the ordinances and rules enacted by the local governments.
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3) Legislation Procedure

Bills for laws may be submitted by lawmakers and the government. First of all, the legislation 
procedure of the bills submitted by the government and the Presidential Decrees is as below 
respectively. The Presidential Decrees are publicly declared after they are examined and decided in 
the Cabinet Meeting without requiring to be examined by the National Assembly, not like the laws.

(1) Legislation by Government

Legislation Procedure of Laws

Presidential Approval

Cabinet Meeting

Meeting of Vice Ministers

Ministry of Government 
Legislation

Regulations Examination

Pre-announcement of Legislation

Consultation with Related Agencies

Draft

Promulgation

➊

➋

➌

➍

➎

➏

➐➑

➓

➒







Assembly plenary session

Legislation & Judiciary Committee

Standing Committee

Steps in National Assembly

To People

 

※ Source: Page 3 of Legislation Handbook 2019 by the Ministry of Government Legislation
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Legislation Procedure of Presidential Decrees

Presidential Approval

Cabinet Meeting

Meeting of Vice Ministers

Ministry of Government 
Legislation

Regulations Examination

Pre-announcement of Legislation

Consultation with Related Agencies

Draft

Promultation

➊

➋

➌

➍

➎

➏

➐

➑

➒

To People

※ Source: Page 4 of Legislation Handbook 2019 by Ministry of Government Legislation 

(2) Legislation by Lawmakers  

The bills suggested by the lawmakers have diverse courses of suggestions such as those by 
the lawmakers and those by the lawmakers based on bills provided from the government or 
a third party. If 10 or more lawmakers agree to a bill, the bill can be submitted by a lawmaker. 
The bills submitted by the government and the bills submitted by the lawmakers are commonly 
determined through the Standing Committee, the Legislation & Judiciary Committee, and the 
determination of the plenary session of the National Assembly after being submitted to the 
National Assembly, and are transferred to the government and proclaimed. 
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National Assembly’s Legislation Examination Procedure

10 or more lawmakers or the government

Omittable when it cannot be reported to the plenary 
session because of closure or recess 
(to be reported afterwards)

Submission to the related committee

Suggestion of opinions of the related committee 

Joint meeting
Public hearing

Hearing

Submission of a legislation bill

Examination of the committee

Examination at the Assembly plenary session

Report to the Assembly plenary session

Submission to the committee

Pass

•  (Examination report of the Head of the Plenary Committee)
• Examination report (description of suggestion)
• Examination & debate (omittable)
• Voting (decision) 

Abolition

Pass

Transfer to the government

Submission to the Cabinet Meeting

Promulgation

Reject

Examination of the Plenary 
Committee 

Submission of the amended bill

•   Description of the 
suggestion

•   Review report
•   Substitute debate

•  Examination of 
the subcommittee

•   Examination of 
article by article 

•   Debate
•   Voting  

(decision)

Submission of the examination report

Examination of the Legislation & Judiciary 
Committee on the system and expressions

※ Source: Page 90 of Legislation Handbook 2019 by Ministry of Government Legislation
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                L i v i n g  i n  K O R E A  2 0 2 2

Almost all countries around the globe, including Korea, require 
the ‘VISA’ what you may already know. The VISA can be called a 
‘confirmation for permission to enter the country’ for a foreigner. 
There are different types of VISA in accordance with the number 
of allowed entries and the purpose of entry, so you first need to 
precisely know what kind of VISA you need to enter a particular 
country.

All foreigners who want to stay in Korea for over 90 days must 
‘register as a foreigner.’ The Residence Card is an ID card issued 
for foreigners, and you need to possess this card to open a mobile 
phone or use a medical institution with a great convenience.

This chapter gives you details about the issuing process of VISA 
for foreign investors, foreigner-invested company, and even 
their family members. In addition, let’s see how to apply for the 
Foreigner Residence Card and how to extend the period of stay in 
the country.
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Foreigner Registration and Stay

VISA

1) General Information 

(1)  What is VISA? 

When an foreigner enters the Republic of Korea, he/she shall hold a valid passport and a VISA* 
issued by the Minister of Justice (Article 7 Clause 1 of the Immigration Act). 
The VISA is deemed by some countries as ‘a confirmation for permission for entering the country’ 
which acknowledges that the foreigner may enter the country, and is deemed by other countries 
as ‘a recommendation for entering the country’ by a consul for an application of a foreigner 
to enter the country. The Republic of Korea deems the VISA as meaning a recommendation 
for entering the country.  Accordingly, even when a foreigner holds a VISA, the person may 
be rejected to be permitted to enter the Republic of Korea if he/she does not satisfy the 
requirements for permission for entering the country as a result of the immigration check by an 
examiner at the Immigration Bureau at the airport and seaport.
* VISA’s Korean name is pronounced as ‘Sajeung.’ 

※ What is the difference between the VISA and the statuses of stay?  

A status of stay is a legal status for a foreigner to stay in the Republic of Korea and do some activities. The 

Immigration Act grants some rights for the statuses of stay which are in 36 different types. Accordingly, the VISA 

and the statuses of stay are in fact handled as the same. 

(2) Types of VISA 

A VISA shall be categorized as a single-entry VISA valid for only one entry into the Republic of 
Korea within a period of validity (three months from the date of issuance) and a multiple-entry 
VISA valid for at least two entries within a period of validity (may differ based on the types of 
VISA).

(3) VISA Issuance Procedure 

1.    Place of application: An overseas diplomatic mission (an embassy or a consulate of the 
Republic of Korea in a foreign country)

2.    Documents to be submitted: Passport, VISA application form, documents to be attached for 
each status of stay

* You can check the documents to be submitted for each status of stay at www.hikorea.go.kr.

**  From 1 July 2020, the issuance of VISA in a sticker type is abolished, and the ‘VISA Grant Notice’ is printed out 

and granted.
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➊ VISA No.: VISA issuance serial No.
➋    Status of Stay: Type of social activities or the status that the 

foreigner may perform or have during stay in the Republic of Korea
➌    Stay Period: A period during which the foreigner may stay in the 

Republic of Korea since the day he/she entered the nation
➍    Type: Type of the VISA, that is, the mark of whether the VISA is a 

single one or a multiple one (S: Single VISA, M: Multiple VISA) 
➎ Issuance Date: Date of issuance of the VISA
➏    Expiry Date: Date of expiry of the VISA, that is, the effective period 

of the VISA. You must enter the Republic of Korea before the 
Expiry Date. After the Expiry Date, your VISA is invalid.

➐    Place of Issuance: Information on the place of issuance of your 
VISA(Republic of Korea Visa Issuance Confirmation Certificate)

2) Foreign-Invested Company and Type of VISA 

(1) Company Investment (D-8)

VISA Type Relevant Requirements

Investment in a 
corporation (D-8-1)

A corporation of the Republic of Korea, KRW 100 million or over, owning 10/100 
of stocks, essential professional manpower who intend to work for the field of 
business administration and management of investment company or production 
and technology

Investment in a venture 
company (D-8-2)

Those who have received the venture company confirmation (including the 
preliminary venture company confirmation) because of excellent technology 
having an industrial property right or intellectual property right or the like

Investment in a private 
company (D-8-3)

National management company, KRW 100 million or over, owning 10/100 or more 
of the total investment amount of the invested company, joint representative 
with a Korea who invested KRW 100 million or over

Technology-based 
startup (D-8-4)

A corporation founder with a college degree in the Republic of Korea or higher, 
or a bachelor’s degree overseas or higher, or who has been recommended by 
the head of a central administrative agency, having intellectual property rights 
or an equivalent technology

* Investment Consulting Center, KOTRA provides administrative services customized for company investment (D-8). 

A. Target  

Essential professional manpower** who intend to work for the business administration and 
management of a corporation of the Republic of Korea* of a foreigner-invested company or a 
production and technology field according to the ‘Foreign Investment Promotion Act’ [hereinafter 
classified as ‘Investment in a corporation (D-8-1)’] 
* Including only the corporations completely established.

** Excluding those who are employed in the Republic of Korea.
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B. VISA Issuance Application  

➊ Basic Requirements  

-    The subject of investment shall be a corporation in the Republic of Korea (only those 
corporations whose foundation is completed). 

-    Where the investment amount is at least 100 million won and a foreigner owns at least 10/100 
of either the total number of voting stocks issued by a Korean corporation or a company 
run by a national of the Republic of Korea, or its total equity investment (Article 2 Clause 2 
Number 1 of the Enforcement Decree of the Foreign Investment Promotion Act) or where a 
foreigner who owns stocks, etc. of a Korean corporation or a company run by a national of 
the Republic of Korea dispatches or appoints an executive officer to or at such corporation or 
company (Article 2 Clause 2 Number 2 of the Enforcement Decree of the Foreign Investment 
Promotion Act)

➋ Institution for Application  

-    An official residence of the Republic of Korea located in the country of the applicant in 
principle. 

※   But, if the applicant resides overseas and operates a business establishment or the like (including those who 

reside for long time with a permanent resident status or the like), the applicant may apply for the VISA at an 

official residence in the country the applicant is residing in.  

C. Application for VISA Issuance Certificate

➊ Basic Requirements

- The subject for investment shall be a corporation of the Republic of Korea. 
-    Where the investment amount is at least 100 million won and a foreigner owns at least 10/100 

of either the total number of voting stocks issued by a Korean corporation or a company 
run by a national of the Republic of Korea, or its total equity investment (Article 2 Clause 2 
Number 1 of the Enforcement Decree of the Foreign Investment Promotion Act) or where a 
foreigner who owns stocks, etc. of a Korean corporation or a company run by a national of 
the Republic of Korea dispatches or appoints an executive officer to or at such corporation or 
company (Article 2 Clause 2 Number 2 of the Enforcement Decree of the Foreign Investment 
Promotion Act)
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➋ Institution for Application 

-    Immigration Bureau or an office for foreigners (office, branch) with jurisdiction over the place 
of stay 

D. Application for Change in Status of Stay 

Foreign investors who have failed to receive the D-8 VISA before entering the Republic of Korea 
shall first enter the country by no VISA (limited to those who are from countries with a VISA 
exemption agreement or with a permission for entering the Republic of Korea with no VISA) or 
the C-3-4 (but for short-term commerce), and then apply for the change in the status of stay 
at the immigration bureau or foreigner office (office, branch) with jurisdiction over the place of 
stay or the KOTRA investment consultation center within 30 days from the date of entry into the 
Republic of Korea.
- Applicant: Principal 
-    Place of application: An immigration bureau or office for foreigners (office, branch) with 

jurisdiction over the place of stay or the KOTRA investment consultation center (02-3497-1064)

E.    Documents to be submitted for VISA issuance application (or the VISA Issuance 

Acknowledgment Document, Change in Status of Stay) 

※  The documents to be submitted differ in accordance with the type of VISA, and the documents to be submitted 

may be added or reduced when it is acknowledged that it is needed to do so in the process of examination.

❶ Integrated Application Form (Enforcement Rule of the Immigration Act [Annexed No. 34 Form])
❷ Passport, and one photograph for the Passport 
❸    A tuberculosis diagnosis chart in case of nationals of a country with a high risk of tuberculosis 

(a certificate issued by a public health care center or a confirmation by a medical institution 
designated by the Ministry of Justice at http://www.immigration.go.kr)

❹    A dispatch order sheet or an employment certificate (all dispatch order sheets issued by 
an investment company (affiliate) written in the foreigner investment company registration 
certificate or an overseas corporation are all acknowledged. The period of dispatch shall be 
specified. But, some proof documents for the same type such as an annual report shall be 
submitted.)

❺  Evidential documents for essential professional manpower (executive, senior manager, 
specialist) (not required for an executive registered on the register): Qualification certificate 
(technician), career certificate, degree certificate, organization chart, etc. 
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Executive 

Those who primarily direct the organizational management in an organization, 
exercise broad-range authority for making decisions, and receive only the general 
directions/supervision from the board of directors and the shareholders as the 
highest executives of the company (Executives cannot in person perform the 
substantial supply of service or the work related to the organization’s service.).

Senior Manager

Those who have responsibility for establishing and executing the goals and policies 
of the organization of a company or a department, have the authorities to plan/direct/
supervise the organization, to employ and fire employees, and to recommend related 
to that, determine/supervise/control the work of other workers for supervision/
professional work/management work, and exercise discretion authority to general 
work (neither including on-site supervisors who do not supervise those who provide 
professional services, nor including those who directly provide services)

Specialist
Those who have advanced professional and monopolistic experiences and 
knowledge essential for research/design/technology/management or the like of 
the company’s services

❻    A copy of the business registration certificate, certificates for the matters on the corporation 
register within three months (if the person is a business operator to which the taxation for the 
unit of business operator is applied, the annexed needs to be submitted)
-    The original copy of the stockholder change status breakdown (Annexed 54 form of the 

Enforcement Rule of the Corporate Tax Act) 
❼ A copy of the foreigner investment company registration certificate
❽ Evidential documents related to introduction of investment fund

- In case of investment in cash
•    Foreign currency transfer permission (report) of the relevant country’s customs or a bank of 

the person’s own country
•    Investment fund introduction breakdown (remittance certificate, foreign currency pu rchase 

certificate, customs report, etc.)    
- In case of investment in kind

•     A copy of the certificate for completion of investment in kind (issued by the Head of the 
Korea Customs Service), copy of the customs import report completion certificate 

❾  Evidential documents for sales results (when there are existing results)
-    The value-added tax imposition standard proof source, payment breakdown certificate 

(property tax, earned income tax, value-added tax, etc. are included)
-    Evidential documents for export/import results (export/import license), evidential documents 

for export amount recovery (bank account deposit/withdrawal breakdown)
❿    Evidential documents for place of stay: Real estate lease contract, residence/accommodation 

provision certificate, provider ID card copy, etc.
※    Residence/accommodation provision certificate (evidential documents for the place of stay when the lessee on 

the lease contract is not the applicant: The real estate lease contract, etc.)

 Copy of the establishment lease contract
※    But, in case of sublease contract, ‘a copy of the sublease contract’ (indicate the consent or approval of the 

landlord on the copy of the contract)
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    Commission: All permission commissions are exempted for the extension of period of stay, 
permission of change, etc. for the company investment (D-8-1).

(2) VISA for Status of Accompanying Family (F-3-1)

A. Target 

A spouse or a minor child of a person falling under the status of stay from Culture & Arts (D-1) to 
Specific Activities (E-7) according to Annexed 1-2 of the Enforcement Decree of the Immigration 
Act, who does not have a spouse (but, this does not apply to those who fall under the status of 
stay of Industrial Training (D-3)) 

B. VISA Issuance Application 

➊ Target 

-    Companion of a foreign investor: A spouse or a minor child of a foreigner with the status of 
Company Investment (D-8), who has no spouse

-    Companion of professional manpower: A spouse or a minor child of a foreigner with the 
status of Professor (E-1), Researcher (E-3), Technique Instructor (E-4), Professional Jobs 
(E-5) or Specific Activities (E-7) with the latest science and technology field employment 
recommendation letter (GOLD CARD), who has no spouse  

➋ Documents to be submitted 

-    Documents shall be submitted in accordance with the standards and procedures of 
examination of issuance of the VISA for the status of Accompanying (F-3), and the VISA will 
be issued.
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C. Application for VISA Issuance Certificate

In principle, the VISA Issuance Certificate is issued only when the applicant applies for the VISA 
issuance certificate together with the principal accompanied (the original status holder). 

D. Application for Change in Status of Stay 

- Applicant: Principal 
-    Place of application: Immigration Bureau or an office for foreigners with jurisdiction over the 

place of stay (office, branch) or the KOTRA investment consultation center 
(You can apply for the permission for the change in the status of stay or the like only when you 
enter the Republic of Korea without VISA or with a short-term VISA because of an unavoidable 
reason.)

E.  Documents to be submitted for VISA issuance application (or the VISA Issuance 

Acknowledgment Document, Change in Status of Stay) 

※ The documents may be added or reduced in case of individuals.

➊    Integrated Application Form (Enforcement Rule of Immigration Bureau/Foreigner Office (office, 
branch) [Annexed No. 34 Form])

➋ Passport, and one photograph for passport
➌    A tuberculosis diagnosis chart in case of a person from a country with a high risk of 

tuberculosis (a certificate issued by a public health care center or a medical institution 
designated by the Ministry of Justice. Check it at http://www.immigration.go.kr.) 

➍ A copy of Residence Card of the holder of the Corporation Investment (D-8-1)
➎ Certificate of Marriage (Family Relation Certificate)
➏ Evidential documents for the place of stay (a real estate lease contract, etc.)
➐ Commission

- Permission for change in the status of stay: KRW 100,000 (revenue stamp)
- Permission for extension of the period of stay: KRW 60,000 (revenue stamp)
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Want to know about VISA?

1.    Hi Korea (the e-government website operated by the Immigration/Foreigner 
Policy Headquarters of the Ministry of Justice)
You can read description of the immigration policy of the Republic of Korea and apply for 
related request or the like (issuance of VISA, jurisdiction of immigration or the like.) The 
latest information is updated here. (Website) http://www.hikorea.go.kr
* Language: Korean, English, Chinese 

2. Republic of Korea VISA Portal

Here you can obtain guide to the complex VISA work including e-VISA application and 
VISA types. Use the ‘VISA Navigator’ provided here, and you can conveniently find 
information of the related VISA types, target for application, and needed documents just 
by inputting the nationality, purpose of entry, and period of stay.
(Website) https://www.visa.go.kr
* anguage: Korean, English, Chinese 

3.   KOTRA Foreign Investor Support Center

It provides the issuance/extension/change services for the VISA related to foreign 
investment (D-8, F3, etc.). (Phone) 02- 3497-1064
* Language: Korean, English (you need to visit in person for consultations in Chinese or Japanese)
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Foreigner Registration and Stay

Foreigner Registration

1)Time and Procedures for Application for Foreigner Registration 

(1) Target 

-    An foreigner who intends to stay in the Republic of Korea for more than 90 days from the date 
of entry (Article 31 of the Immigration Act) 

(2) Time for Registration 

- Within 90 days from the day when he/she has entered the Republic of Korea 
-    A person who is granted the status of stay or the permission for changing the status of stay 

shall file for foreigner registration when he/she is granted the status of stay (immediately). 

(3) Place of Application 

-    The immigration bureau or foreigner office with jurisdiction over the place of stay (office, 
branch) or the KOTRA Foreign Investor Support Center Investment Consultation Center*

*    But, only those VISAs such as Company Investment (D-8), Accompanying Family (F-3) and House Helper (F-1) 

are available.

2) Required Documents for Foreigner Registration

- Integrated Application Form (Enforcement Rule of the Immigration Act [Annexed No. 34 Form])
- Passport 
- One photograph in color (3.5 cm X 4.5 cm) 
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- Commission of KRW 30,000
* But, all commission is exempted in case of Corporation Investment (D-8-1).

- Additionally required documents for each status of stay*
* Please check the information at Hi Korea (www.hikorea.go.kr). 

3) Foreigner Registration Matter Change Report 

-    An foreigner who has filed for registration shall report changes in registered matters to the 
Regional Immigration Service having jurisdiction over his/her place of stay within 15days if any 
of the following matters is changed. (Article 35 of the Immigration Act). 

-    If an foreigner does not report changes in registered matters to the Regional Immigration 
Service having jurisdiction over his/her place of stay within 15days, the foreigner shall be 
imposed an administrative fine for the violation of Article 35 of the Immigration Act.  

➊ Reasons for report 

-  When there is a change in his/her name, gender, date of birth, and nationality
-    When there is a change in the number, date of issuance, and term of validity of his/her 

passport
-    When the affiliate agency or group of the foreigner with the status of stay of Culture & Arts 

(D-1), Student (D-2), General Training (D-4), Coverage (D-5), Religion (D-6), Resident (D-
7), Company Investment (D-8), Trade & Business Administration (D-9) or the like is changed 
(including the name)

-    Whether he/she is in a school falling under one of the Nos. of Article 2 of the Elementary and 
Secondary Education Act (elementary schools, middle schools and high civic schools, special 
schools, and various kinds of schools)

-    Occupations and the annual earned income of those who have the status of stay of the job 
seekers, Resident (D-7), Company Investment (D-8), or Trade & Business Administration (D-9) 

➋ Documents to be submitted 

-  Passport and Residence Card
-    Integrated application form 

(Enforcement Rule of the Immigration 
Act [Annexed No. 34 Form])
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Foreigner Registration and Stay

Extension of Period of Stay

1) Time and Procedures of Extension of Period of Stay

(1) Target and Time 

Every foreigner who intends to continue to stay in excess of the permitted period of stay shall 
obtain permission to extend his/her period of stay from the Minister of Justice before the expiration 
of the permitted period of stay (Article 25 of the Immigration Act). You can apply for extension of 
the stay period from four months before the expiry date of the stay period. If the date of expiration 
of the permitted period of stay has passed, you may be imposed fine according to the Immigration 
Act. 

(2) Stay Period Extension Procedure 

Reception and 
examination

Application for 
extension of period of stay
The immigration bureau 

or office for foreigners with 
jurisdiction over the place 
of stay or place of work 

(office, branch)

Permission
(write the extension 

permission in the 
Residence Card)

No permission
(issuance of notice of 

determination of no permission 
for the extension of 

period of stay or the like
(reason for no permission, 

time limit for exit, etc.))

2) Documents to Be Submitted 

- Integrated Application Form (Enforcement Rule of the Immigration Act [Annexed No. 34 Form])
-  Passport and Residence Card 
- Evidential documents for the place of stay
- Attached documents for each status of stay
-   Commission:    ① Permission for extension of period of stay: KRW 60,000 (revenue stamp) 

 ②  Permission for change of status of stay: KRW 100,000 (revenue stamp)
*Commission is exempted for the Company Investment (D-8).
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Foreigner Registration and Stay

Report of Change in Place of Stay

1) Eligibility and Time 

If an foreigner who has filed for registration changes his/her place of stay, the foreigner shall file a 
moving-in report with the head of the Si/Gun/Gu or Eup/Myeon/Dong where the new place of stay is 
located, or with the head of the Regional Immigration Service having jurisdiction over the new place 
of stay within 15 days from the date the foreigner moves into the new place of stay (Article 36 of the 
Immigration Act).

 

2) Documents to Be Submitted 

- Integrated Application Form (Enforcement Rule of the Immigration Act [Annexed No. 34 Form])
- Passport and Residence Card 
-    Evidential documents for the changed matters (if your place of stay is changed, evidential 

documents for proving the address such as the lease contract)
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Foreigner Registration and Stay

Immigration VIP Card

1) General Information 

(1) What Is the Immigration VIP Card?  

The Immigration VIP Card is a card issued by the Ministry 
of Justice for providing a convenient entry/exit procedure 
for foreigners. KOTRA is one of the agencies that select the 
targets for issuing the Immigration VIP Card, and receives the 
application for the issuance of the Card from foreign investors 
or the like. The Immigration VIP Card holder can rapidly enter and exit the Republic of Korea 
through the Fast Track (the exclusive passage for flight attendants and diplomats).

(2) Target 

A person who falls under one of the below may be selected as the target for issuing the 
Immigration VIP Card. 
➊    Executives and staffs of a foreign parent company or a local headquarters in Asia of a foreign 

investment company with over the below direct foreign investment amount (based on the 
reported amount)* 

Category Reference (Reported amount of direct foreign investment)

Manufacturing USD 15 million or over

Finance, insurance USD 50 million or over

Wholesale, retail, transportation, warehousing USD 5 million or over

Other types of business USD 10 million or over

Operation of research and development centers, 
businesses accompanying new growth engine 

industrial technologies
USD 2 million or over

*     When you apply for a re-issuance after the period of validity expires, you can be selected as the target for 

issuance only when the ratio of arrived amount to the reported amount for direct foreign investment at the time of 

application for the re-issuance falls under 50% or over.

➋    Executives and staffs at a foreign parent company or local headquarters in Asia of the foreign 
investment company with 100 or more regular employees

➌ Executives and staffs of foreign economic organizations in the Republic of Korea
➍  Investment inspectors invited by the related central administrative agency or local governments

※    The period of validity of the Immigration VIP Card is three years from the date of issuance. (But, the period of 

validity for the investment inspectors invited by the related central administrative agency or local governments is 

six months.)

※ The above matters can be changed in accordance with directions of the Ministry of Justice. 

Immigration VIP Card
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2) Documents to Be Submitted 
➊ Immigration VIP Card Application 
➋    A copy of the foreign investment company registration certificate in case of executives and staffs 

working for a foreign parent company or a local headquarters in Asia of a foreign investment 
company, original copy of the corporation register in case of the executives and staffs of 
a foreign economic organization in the Republic of Korea, and the invitation in case of the 
investment inspectors invited by the related central administrative agency or local governments

➌    Certificate of employment for a foreign parent company or a local headquarters in Asia (or 
evidential documents for the affiliation of the card applicant to the company or organization or 
the like included in the target for the card issuance)  

➍ Documents falling under one of the below in accordance with the issuance target standards
-    In case of companies operating an R&D center: the confirmation for a company-related 

research center or the confirmation for the department exclusively for R&D issued by the 
Korea Industrial Technology Association (or a public notice of designating the company as an 
R&D facility received from the Ministry of Industry, Trade and Energy)

-    In case of a company accompanying the new growth engine industrial technology: a public notice for 
determination of tax reduction from the Ministry of Economy and Finance or the like in relation to that

-    In case of a company with over 100 regular employees: the wage register, the breakdown of 
the insured for the establishment issued by the Korea Workers’ Compensation and Welfare 
Service, the report for status of execution of withholding tax issued by the tax office, etc. 

➎ A copy of the passport of the card applicant
※ You can attach the PDF files of the application form and documents and send it by e-mail.
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3) Issuance Procedure

Applicant  ▶ KOTRA KOTRA ▶ Ministry of 
Justice

Ministry of Justice ▶ 
KOTRA

KOTRA ▶ Applicant

Sending the 
application form and 
evidential documents

Application for 
issuance of card

Approval and 
issuance of the 

card
Sending

*    If you apply for the card within the 1st to 9thof the month (when the 9th is a holiday, the immediately previous business 

day):  Issued on around the 25th of the same month.

**  If you apply for the card after the 9th of the month : Issued on around the 25th of the next month.

※ Send to:  Person in charge of the KOTRA investment consultation center 

(Phone) 02- 3497-1971 

(e-mail) prioritycard@kotra.or.kr

How do you enter your middle name in Korea?

In Korea, the middle name is not used, so there are no regulations for that. But, in general, if 
you have a middle name, you just need the order of writing the middle name in the passport 
or the Residence Card (family name, first name, middle name) when writing your name for 
subscribing for a website or applying for a card issuance.  
* If your name is very long, the name is cut in the card actually, but it does not hinder your using the card. 
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VISA

Incheon  
International  
Airport

#
Application 
Search 
Keyword QR

App Store (iOS) Google Play (Android)
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When you reside in a foreign country, away from your home, you 
may worry about ‘what if I get sick even though it is just a minor 
symptom like cold?“ These days, it has become much easier 
to travel or move between countries, but recently, because of 
the COVID-19, all the world is in tension, and you may well be 
concerned more about your health.

But, if you are in Korea, you may not have a great concern! For the 
Republic of Korea provides a globally high level of medical services 
and you can even join the health insurance if you keep a certain 
qualifications and period of stay in the country!

In addition, the global world is in pain because of the COVID-19 
which is a pandemic across the global community, but the Republic 
of Korea has a very low infection rate of the virus since all people in 
the country, both the government and the citizens, are doing their 
best for preventing the incidence and spread of the COVID-19. 
Such quarantine system and excellent attitudes of Koreans are also 
well-known in the world through news. The Korean government 
and the Koreans are making best endeavor now as well.

Accordingly, when you enter Korea, you must first be isolated for 
10 days. This process may seem a little strict, but please understand 
thinking that it is the defense line for preventing the spread of the 
pandemic. Even if an infectious diseases is all over the world, we 
just cannot stop all of our lives. But we can keep the good health 
of everyone living in this country only by complying with the basic 
rules in daily lives, that is, wearing a mask and checking a QR 
code to enter some places or the like, which are called ‘the social-
distancing rules in daily lives.’

This chapter shows details of where to contact when you are ill 
or have any health issue and how the health insurance system is 
operated while you are staying in Korea. In addition, we will describe 
the rules for quarantine and the social-distancing rules in daily lives. 
Please be well aware of the rules and information for your own health 
as well as the good health of everyone.
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Health and Quarantine

Medical System and Health Insurance

1) Medical System in the Republic of Korea 

(1) Hospital

Most hospitals and clinics in the Republic of Korea are well equipped with the latest medical 
equipment and devices, and provide high-quality medical services to patients. Recently, the 
number of foreigners living in the Republic of Korea is on the rise, so many medical institutions 
are making efforts to provide various medical services to foreign patients, also operating 24/7 
telephone consultation services and free translation services. 
There are 3,678 medical institutions distributed across the nation, of which 360 are general 
hospitals, 1,610 normal hospitals, 1,687 nursing hospitals, and 21 military hospitals. In addition, 
there are around 32,400 clinics and 18,000 dental clinics, so you can receive diagnosis and 
treatment fast enough anywhere in the Republic of Korea.

Category Clinics Hospitals & General Hospitals Higher General Hospitals

Main 
Targets Mainly outpatients Mainly inpatients Mainly patients with serious 

illness

Major 
Work

Treatment for outpatients with 
simple, common diseases

General treatment for 
hospitalization and surgeries

Treatment for serious illnesses 
needing high-level techniques 

such as surgeries and 
procedures

Inclusive medical services 
including prevention of 

diseases and consultations

Treatment for patients who 
need more special management 

for each area

Treatment for patients with 
diseases with a high fatality and 
high possibility of complications

Health care for protection and 
improvement of health of local 

residents

Treatment for patients needing 
to be hospitalized because of 
chronic illness that require a 

long-term treatment

Treatment for many subjects of 
treatment and patients needing 
the use of special facilities and 

equipment

* Source: Korean Hospital Association 

※    In order to be treated at a tertiary medical institution, you need a doctor's opinion letter from a primary or 

secondary medical institution. If a patient directly visits a tertiary medical institution without passing through the 

primary or secondary one, an initial diagnosis cost is incurred additionally. 

※    You can search for hospitals in each region for each subject at the official website of the Korean Hospital 

Association (http://www.kha.or.kr) *. 

   * Language: English, Chinese, Japanes 
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(2) Pharmacies

You can buy special medicine and medical supplies, which require a doctor's prescription, and 
general medicine and medical supplies, which you can purchase without a doctor's prescription, 
at the pharmacies in the Republic of Korea. Of those, general medicine and medical supplies 
include cold medicines, digestive medicines, fever reducers, pain relievers, various ointments for 
injuries, and diarrhea medicines in different types. 
In addition, those articles which are not medicine or medical supplies such as pesticides, sanitary 
pads, health supplement beverages, and condoms can be purchased not only at pharmacies but 
also other retail shops such as convenience stores. Some medicines and medical supplies such 
as cold medicines, digestive medicines, fever reducers, pain relievers, and pain relief patches can 
be purchased also at convenience stores.  
* Source: Danuri Guidebook to Life in Korea

(3) Duty Hospitals and Duty Pharmacies

-   Emergency Medical Portal, E-gen (http://www.e-gen.or.kr) 
You can get information on all emergency status of all hospitals and emergency sites in the 
Republic of Korea at the National Emergency Medical Center (NEMC). They operate the E-gen 
for you to rapidly find the needed information even in emergency by providing features such as 
Find Nearby Emergency Room, Find Hospitals & Pharmacies, Search Private Ambulances, and 
Find the AED.
* Language: English
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(4) International Medical Centers  

A. General Hospitals (Western, Oriental)

Hospital Phone Website Language

Seoul National 
University Hospital 02-2072-0505 http://www.snuh.org

English, Chinese, 
Japanese, and many 

others

Samsung Medical 
Center 02-3410-0200 http://www.

samsunghospital.com

Yonsei University 
Health System

02-2228-5800
02-2228-5810

https://sev.severance.
healthcare/sev/index.do

Asan Medical Center 02-3010-5001 http://www.amc.seoul.kr

Korea University 
Medicine

02-920-5677
02-920-5268((Emergency) http://www.kumc.or.kr English

KyungHee University 
Medical Center

02-958-9639 (English)
02-958-9644 (Russian)

02-958-9644 (Mongolian)
02-958-2978 (Japanese)

http://www.khmc.or.kr English, Chinese, 
Japanese, Russian

Jaseng Hospital of 
Korean Medicine

02-3218-2223 (English)
02-3218-2215 (Russian)
02-3218-2225 (Chinese)

02-3218-2219 (Japanese)

http://www.jaseng.co.kr

English, Chinese, 
Japanese, Mongolian, 

Russian, Arabic, 
Vietnamese

B. Women’s Hospitals 

Hospital Phone Website Language

Medi-I Hospital 02-936-2122 http://www.medi-i.com English

MizMedi 
Hospital

1588-2701
02-2007-1299 (Chinese)
02-2007-1276 (Russian)

02-2007-1296 (Mongolian)

http://www.mizmedi.com English, Chinese, 
Russian, Mongolian

2) Health Insurance System

(1) Overview 

The Republic of Korea is operating a health insurance system for which each individual pays a 
certain amount of premium every month in accordance with the income and properties. When 
you subscribe for the Health Insurance, you can use the medical institutions at a low cost when 
you are ill or give birth to your child. In addition, you can receive a medical checkup on a regular 
basis. All Koreans shall subscribe for the Health Insurance, but those designated to receive 
medical subsidy are excluded. 
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The subscribers for the Health Insurance are divided into the 
employee insured and the self-employed insured. All establishment's 
workers and owners and public officials and school teachers and 
employees are classified as the employee insured. Those who 
mainly make their living by the employee insured and satisfy all 
support requirements and income requirements designated by the 
Enforcement Rule of the National Health Insurance Act may become 
a dependent by an application by the employee insured.  In case of 
the employee insured, the insurance contribution for the pay from 
the company shall be borne by the company for 50% and by the 
employee insured for the rest 50%. If the employee insured’s other 
income exceeds KRW 34 million a year, KRW 34 million is deducted 
from the total income, and the employee insured shall pay the whole insurance contribution 
which is calculated by applying 100% of the insurance contribution rate to the rest income.  

Those who are neither the employee insured nor their dependents are classified as the self-
employed insured. The self-employed insured shall pay the whole insurance contribution. The 
insurance contribution is calculated by different criteria in accordance with the possessed assets 
such as income, properties, automobiles, etc. When a subscriber to the national health insurance 
receives treatment at a hospital, the National Health Insurance Service pays a part of the cost, so 
he/she can receive diagnosis or treatment at a clinic, hospital, or oriental hospital at a low cost. 
But, a part of the cost for diagnosis and treatment shall be borne by the subscriber. 

In addition, a subscriber receives the benefits of medical checkup. There are differences in 
the medical checkup in accordance with the age of the subscriber, but normally a subscriber 
receives the medical checkup once every two years.   
* Source: Danuri Guidebook to Life in Korea 

(2) Foreigners Subject to Health Insurance 

Those foreigners who have filed for foreigner registration become the employee insured if they 
work for a workplace to which the national health insurance is applied or if they are employed as 
public officials or school employees. Those foreigners who have filed for foreigner registration 
but are not the employee insured or dependents become the self-employed insured. The self-
employed insured shall maintain his/her status of stay falling under Attachment Table 9 of the 
Enforcement Rule of the National Health Insurance Act, and if he/she resides in the Republic of 
Korea for six months or longer, he/she naturally acquires the qualification for the self-employed 
insured for the national health insurance. 

However, even if a foreigner did not reside in the country for six months or longer, if it is clear that 
he/she is going to reside in the country for six months or longer because of study, marriage, or 
immigration, he/she may subscribe for the national health insurance. 

Health Insurance Certificate
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*Enforcement Rule of National Health Insurance Act [Attached Table 9] <Amended on 26 Feb. 2021.>  

Status of Stay (In relation to Article 61-2 Clause 2)
Foreigners’ Status of Stay (Symbols)

1.    Culture & Arts (D-1), Study (D-2), Industrial Training (D-3), General Training (D-4), Coverage 
(D-5), Religion (D-6), Resident (D-7), Company Investment (D-8), Trade & Business 
Administration (D-9), Job Seeking (D-10)

2.    Professor (E-1), Conversation Instructor (E-2), Research (E-3), Technique Instructor (E-4), 
Professional Jobs (E-5), Arts Enterprise (E-6), Specific Activities (E-7), Non-Professional 
Employment (E-9), Sailor Employment (E-10)

3.    Visit and Co-Residence (F-1), Residence (F-2), Accompanying Family (F-3), Overseas 
Koreans (F-4), Permanent Residence (F-5), Marriage Immigration (F-6)

4.    Miscellaneous (G-1) (Limited to those who have received the humanitarian stay permission 
according to the Refugee Act and those who have been designated by the National Health 
Insurance Service.)

5. Tourism & Employment (H-1), Visit & Employment (H-2)

(3) How to Subscribe

➊    When the foreigner’s spouse has subscribed for the national health insurance as the employee 
insured
The person may subscribe as a dependent of his/her spouse. The person may submit the 
documents needed for checking if he/she is truly a dependent of the spouse to the National 
Health Insurance Service. 
*    Needed documents: Dependent Eligibility Acquisition Report, copy of Residence Card, and Certificate of Family 

Registration 

➋   When the foreigner works for a workplace
If a foreigner works for an establishment to which the national health insurance is applied, he/
she can subscribe for the national health insurance. 
His/her company may submit a copy of the Certificate of Residence Card and other needed 
documents to the National Health Insurance Service. 

➌    If no one of the foreigner and his/her Korean spouse works for a workplace
If neither the foreigner nor the spouse works for a workplace since they are self-employed or 
work as a day laborer or the like, they may subscribe for the national health insurance as the 
self-employed insured.
The foreigner and the spouse may visit the branch of the National Health Insurance Service 
in the local community and submit a copy of Residence Card and an application form. The 
foreigner may visit the branch alone and apply for it.
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(4) Payment of Insurance Contribution 

➊ Employee insured
The employer shall pay the insurance contribution by deducting it from the monthly wage given 
to the foreigner each month in advance. 
In case of the employee insured, the employer pays the monthly contribution for the wages 
from the company (borne by the employer and the employee by 50% each) by deducting 
from the wage paid to the employee each month. The contribution for the annual total income 
(exceeding KRW 34 million) is paid by the employee.

➋ Self-Employed Insured
A foreigner shall pay the contribution of the month until the 25th day of the previous month. (But, 
the contribution incurred by the retroactive acquisition of the qualification is imposed by being 
added to the initial contribution.)
Those foreigners permanently staying in the Republic of Korea with the status of stay of F-5 
or F-6 shall pay the contribution until the 10th day of the next month by the same contribution 
imposing standard as that of the Koreans. 

(5) Agencies for Consultation and Inquiry  

For details on contributions for the health insurance, qualifications, and benefits, please use the 
website of the National Health Insurance Corporation or use the representative phone (1577-
1000) or foreign language consultation phone (English, Chinese, Japanese, Vietnamese, 033-
811-2000).
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Special Entry Procedure and Quarantine System

1) Purpose

Recently, the whole world is in tension because of the infectious disease COVID-19, and the Republic 
of Korea is operating the special entry procedure and the isolation system as a quarantine action for 
blocking and controlling the opportunities for the disease to spread between countries in advance. 
The purpose is to protect the health rights of Koreans and foreigners by preventing the disease from 
spreading in the country because of entry from overseas countries. 

A call center in relation to disease information operated by the 
KDCPA for free of charge. It operates disease consultations 24/7 
all the year round, and you can report about infectious diseases. 
Foreigners staying in the country can also receive consultations 
in foreign languages through interpreters on phone calls. The 

interpretation service can be requested for through the Tourism Guide Center of the Korea 
Tourism Organization (1330) or the Foreigner Information Center of the Ministry of Justice 
(1345). The service languages differ in accordance with the center and the operating hours.

☎ 1330 Tourism Interpretation Phone Calls: Operating Hours and Provided Languages (8 languages)

Operating Hours Language

24 hours a day Korean, English, Chinese, Japanese

08:00 a.m.-7:00 p.m. Vietnamese, Thai, Bahasa Malay, or Indonesian, Russian

* Major consultation: Accommodation bookings, transportation, culture, admission tickets, translation, etc.

☎ 1345 Foreigner Information Center: Operating Hours and Consultation Languages (20 languages)

Operating Hours Language

09:00 ~ 22:00 Korean, English, Chinese, Japanese

08:00 ~ 19:00
Vietnamese, Thai, Japanese, Mongolian, Indonesian/Bahasa Malay, French, 

Bangladeshi, Pakistani, Russian, Nepalese, Cambodian, 
Myanmarese, Gernman, Spanish, Filipino, Arabic, Sihala

*    Major consultation: Guidelines for administration and living for foreigners (entry and exit, invitation, VISA, stay, 
naturalization, refugee, immigration, etc.)

You can receive a consultation at +82-2-2633-1339 or at +82-2-2163-5945 in other regions 
than Korea, and you need to pay for the calls in such a case.
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In accordance with the entry quarantine policies, the special entry procedure is conducted after 
checking the total health condition of all people who come to enter the country (including Koreans) 
through personal body temperature measurement and health condition questionnaires, etc. For the 
documents required to be submitted for each target such as the PCR negative certificate and the 
isolation exemption documents, you can call the 1339 call center or the postings at ncov.mohw.go.kr 
at the end of every month. 

2) Special Entry Procedure
 *Details may change in accordance with situations, so please refer to ncov.mohw.go.kr. 

Starting 19 March 2020, the ‘special entry procedure’ is operated by the Korean government in order 
to block the spread of the infectious disease COVID-19 from across the globe.

(Basic Principle) All people who want to enter the Republic of Korea shall install the ‘Self-
Quarantine Protection Application (Self-Isolation Application)’ on their mobile phone currently (as 
of December 2021) and shall prepare and submit the Special Quarantine Report. 
■    (Confirmation of the Special Quarantine Report) Check if the information such as personal 

information, contact information in the Republic of Korea, address, etc.
■    (Installation of the self-quarantine application) All people who want to enter the Republic of 

Korea shall be guided to install the ‘Self-Quarantine Protection Application’ and whether they 
have installed it or not shall be checked right away.
-    (General procedure) Koreans and foreigners who will stay in the Republic of Korea for a 

long time shall install the Self-Quarantine Application for 10 days. Foreigners who will stay 
in the country for a short time shall install the Self-Diagnosis Application for 10 days (when 
they come to enter the facilities, they shall delete the Self-Quarantine Application and 
install the Self-Diagnosis Application instead).

-    (Those possessing the Quarantine Exemption Certificate) If they are confirmed to be 
‘negative’ by the PCR test on the first day of their entry, they shall delete the Self-
Quarantine Application and install the Self-Diagnosis Application (they shall be guided by 
the test execution agency).

-    (Those with the domestic vaccination completed) If they are confirmed to be ‘negative’ by 
the PCR test on the first day of their entry, they shall delete the Self-Quarantine Application 
(without the Self-Diagnosis Application installed).

-    (Others exempted from quarantine) Those who are exempted from quarantine and do 
not need the Quarantine Exemption Certificate such as those with the Type A VISA shall 
be tested at the temporary living facilities and delete the Self-Quarantine Application and 
install the Self-Diagnosis Application. 

 ■    (Check of answering the phone) On the site, the agency staff shall directly call the contact 
information (mobile phone number) written in the Special Quarantine Report on the site and 
check if they answer the phone or not. 
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■    (Actions in accordance with the completion of the Special Entry Procedure) Check the 
contact information and check if the relevant applications are installed or not on the mobile 
phone of each entrants, and take the below actions.
-    When the contact information and the installation of the applications are confirmed, issue 

the Quarantine Confirmation Certificate.    

(1) Those with symptoms

They shall receive diagnosis and checkup when they enter the country after being checked 
by the medical team. When they are found positive, they are transferred to the hospital or life 
treatment center. If negative, Koreans and foreigners who will stay in the Republic of Korea for a 
long time start self-quarantine, and foreigners who will stay in the country for a short time start 
quarantine in a temporary life facility. Those exempted from quarantine start health condition 
monitoring through the Self-Diagnosis Application.   

Category Diagnosis
and Checkup

Test
Result

Actions

Entrant
with

Symptoms

Positive
Transfer to a hospital or
a life treatment center

In accordance with the
procedures for those with

no symptoms for each target 
(They are regarded as having completed

the diagnosis and checkup
within one day after the entry.)

Negative

Arrivals Hall or
the Central

Quarantine Medical 
Support Center
(the quarantine
facility  for the

quarantine office)

(2) Those with no symptoms

Those with no symptoms shall be classified into the quarantine type and the monitoring type 
based the nationality, VISA type, etc.

① Koreans·Foreigners who will stay for a long time

(Basic principle) They shall be informed that they are the targets for self-quarantine for 10 days. 
They shall be checked if they have installed the ‘Self-Quarantine Protection Application’ of the 
Ministry of Public Administration and Security, and go through the special entry procedure and 
then enter the country.
(Diagnosis and checkup) After they enter the country, the public health center at their actual 
address shall perform the diagnosis and checkup (within one day after the entry before the 
release from quarantine). 
(Those with the domestic vaccination completed) The public health center at their actual 
address shall conduct the PCR test on the first day, and if they are found ‘negative’ they are 
switched into the passive monitoring (exemption from quarantine).
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-    The public health center at their actual address shall conduct an additional PCR test before 
the end of quarantine period.

*    If they do not receive the test or are found positive, they shall be immediately turned into self-quarantine, and 

those of confirmed cases shall receive the actions related to the confirmed cases (by the local government).

② Foreigners who will stay for a short time

(Basic principle) They shall be put in quarantine for 10 days at a temporary life facility (the cost 
shall be borne by themselves).
-    (Installation of related applications) When they enter, they shall install the ‘Self-Quarantine 

Protection Application’ and when they enter the facilities, they shall delete the application and 
install the ‘Self-Diagnosis Application’ instead.

-    (Diagnosis and checkup) They shall receive the diagnosis and checkup within one day after 
the entry and before the release from quarantine at the temporary life facilities.

③ Those exempted from quarantine

(Basic principle) If they are found ‘negative’ as a result of the diagnosis and checkup at the 
temporary life facilities, they shall install the Self-Diagnosis Application and enter their health 
condition for 10 days and shall receive the diagnosis and checkup on the 6th to 7th day.
(Those with the domestic vaccination completed) When they enter the country, they shall 
present their Vaccination Certificate at the step of quarantine at the entry (paper or COOV 
application or the vaccination sticker issued by the local community center), and if they meet 
the quarantine exemption requirements, they can be exempted from the quarantine (switched 
into the passive monitoring). 
*    (Standards) Those who have been fully vaccinated for all the recommended number of times of vaccination for 

each type of vaccine as of the date of entry and have passed two weeks, ① with no symptom, ② being found 

‘negative’ as a result of the PCR test on the first day after the entry, ③ and being not those who have come from 

a country excluded from the application of exemption from quarantine for those with vaccination completed. 

-    (Diagnosis and checkup) They shall submit the PCR Negative Confirmation Certificate 
when entering the country, and receive the PCR test on the first day and before the end of 
quarantine period at the local public health centers at their actual address.

For more details on the targets for exemption from quarantine (‘Those with the Type A VISA,’ 
entrants for humanitarianistic purposes, etc.), refer to ncov.mohw.go.kr.
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Category

PCR
Negative

Confirmation
Certificate

Diagnosis and
Checkup

within 1 Day
after Entry

Quarantine Additional
Tests

Submit Public Health
Centers

After being
confirmed to
be negative,
exempted

from quarantine
(passive

monitoring)

Diagnosis
and checkup
on the 6th to

7th day

Those with overseas
vaccination completed

* The COOV application or the
Vaccination Certificate

 issued in the Republic of Korea is required

Submit
Public Health

Centers

Submit

Those with domestic
vaccination completed
* The COOV application or the 

Vaccination Certificate issued in the
Republic of Korea or the vaccination

sticker is required.

After being
confirmed to
be negative,
exempted

from quarantine
(passive

monitoring)

Diagnosis
and checkup
on the 6th to

7th day

Public Health
Centers

Self-
quarantine
for 10 days

Test before
the release

from quarantine
Those who

are not
vaccinated

Koreans/Foreigners
who will stay

in the country
for a long time

Submit
Test at the temporary life facilities

and quarantine in a facility for 10 days
(the cost for 10 days shall be borne by the themselves)

Test before
the release

from quarantine

Foreigners who
will stay in the

country for
a short time

※  Those who will stay in the country for a short time shall follow the ‘the procedures for entrants from general countries.’

※ Those entrants from high-risk countries shall follow a different procedure.

※    The classification of countries and actions may vary in accordance with the situations, and the changes will be 

posted on the notice of the homepage.

3) Quarantine

All Koreans and foreigners who enter the Republic of Korea shall install the ‘Self-Quarantine Protection 
Application’ or the ‘Self-Diagnosis Application’ before entering the country. Entrants shall receive the 
quarantine notice at the immigration process, and move to the temporary quarantine facilities or the 
self-quarantine place to be isolated until midnight in 10 days from the date of entry. 
(e.g. if you enter on April 1, you are under quarantine until midnight on April 11.) If you violate the 
regulations, foreigners will receive the cancellation of their VISA and the permit for stay and be forcibly 
expelled and be prohibited to enter again. * So you must observe the guidelines. 

(1) Facility Quarantine

Those with no symptoms among foreigners to stay in Korea for a short period shall be classified 
to be isolated in a facility. They shall submit the Consent for Facility Quarantine when having their 
tickets issued at the airport. But, those who are confirmed to have family relations* with a Korean 
or a foreigner who is staying in Korea for a long time, and when they have secured a place to be 
self-quarantined, they can be put into self-quarantine as an exception. (Currently, the home-care 
conversion measures are temporarily suspended. Please refer to ncov.mohw,go.kr for details.)
*    The spouse of the principal, the lineal ascendants and descendants of the principal or the spouse, blood relatives 

within two degrees of the principal or the spouse

　Install the ‘Self-Quarantine Application’ while you are staying in the airport or moving to a facility.
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※  You need to check if your address is available as a place for self-quarantine or not at the relevant public health 

center or the like.

(2) Self-quarantine

Those with no symptoms among Koreans or foreigners to stay for a long time shall move to their 
home and start self-quarantine for 10 days. If they have no home or it is improper to have self-
quarantine*, they must be under quarantine in a facility operated by the Korean government or 
the local governments. In addition, they must receive the additional PCR diagnosis and checkup 
at the local governments the ninth day of quarantine. moving to their homes, and if they are 
found negative, they are released from the quarantine on the 10th day. (the tests on the fifth to 
sixth day are omitted).
*    When it is impossible to specify a residence in the past or a future residence to live in

(3) Quarantine Guidelines 

The public facilities or the local governments provide guidelines and details for you to observe in 
quarantine in temporary facilities or your home.
The commonly applied quarantine guidelines are as below.
-  Prohibited to go out of the place of quarantine for preventing the spread of the infection.
- Live alone in a separated space.
-    If any symptom such as fever, 

cough, and difficulty in breathing 
occurs, immediately report to 
the facility manager or the local 
public health care center. 

-    Observe the individual hygiene 
rules such as washing your 
hands, covering your mouth 
and nose with sleeves when 
you cough, avoid touching your 
eyes, nose, and mouth with unwashed hands, etc.

-    When you cannot avoid going out, you shall contact and notify the fact to the local public health 
center and use a separate means of transportation such as your own car.

-    If you have any family or anyone who lives with you, all of them including yourself shall wear a 
mask all the time.

-    Use your own separate items (such as towels, dishes and spoons and chopsticks or forks, and 
mobile phones).
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Prevention of Pandemic in Daily Lives

1)   Social distancing and vaccination certification/negative certification  
system
*   Social distancing is one of the quarantine measures for preventing the spread of infectious disease virus by 

physically distancing from other people in daily life. The details may change in accordance with the situations, so 

please refer to ncov.mohw.go.kr for the latest information.

Vaccination Certification/Negative Certification System

Along with the conversion into a stepwise daily life recovery on 1 November 2021, introduced 
is the vaccination certification and negative certification system to allow those who have 
completely been vaccinated and the like to use multi-user facilities or the like. The target facilities 
are high-risk multi-user facilities and infection-vulnerable facilities and the subjects are adults 
who are 19 years old or older. Those who have been completely vaccinated and those who 
have been confirmed to be PCR-negative and some unavoidable exceptions among those who 
are not vaccinated are acknoweldged as the range of exceptions in accordance with the risk 
level and necessities. The effects of vaccination are acknowledged up to six months (180 days) 
from the day when 14 days have passed after the second vaccination, and if a person has been 
vaccinated three times, the effects of vaccination are acknoweldged from the day of the third 
vaccination.

Facilities applying Quarantine Pass (Vaccination Certification-Negative Certification System)
2022.1.3

Our facility

Those who can enter our facility are,

Those completely
vaccinated
Electronic Vaccination Certificate
(COOV application, etc.),
paper Vaccination Certificate,
or sticker Vaccination Certificate

Fully recovered persons
from COVID-19
Certificate for Release
from Quarantine for
COVID-19

Exceptions from vaccination
certification·negative
certification
Adolescents 18 years old or younger,
and those who cannot be vaccinated
because of health issues

Those certified to be
PCR-negative
PCR Negative Certificate,
PCR Negative Certificate Text Message
*Those certified to be PCR-negative are
  temporarily acknowledged until the end
  of January 2022.

Before you enter our facility, please show us your Quarantine Pass such as the 

Vaccination Certificate along with the Electronic Entrants List or the Call Checkin!

applies the Quarantine Pass!

0201

0403

*Source: Ministry of Health and Welfare http://ncov.mohw.go.kr/



53  Health and Quarantine

2) Prevention Guidelines 

(1) Wearing Mask

The use of masks is one of the means that can prevent and limit the spread of the virus infection 
via saliva droplets effectively. Currently, regardless of the step of social distancing, you must wear 
a mask when you don’t have a distance of 2 meters or longer kept from others in the indoors and 
the outdoors. Recently, the Infectious Disease Control and Prevention Act has been amended 
(amended on 12 August 2020, enforced on October 13) to allow the administrative command 
right holders to order to follow the quarantine guidelines such as wearing a mask when there is 
a concern over the spread of the infectious disease and to let citizens to be fined for penalty if 
they do not follow the order. Currently, those who aren’t wearing a mask are fined for up to KRW 
100,000 regardless of the number of times they have violated the guidelines. If the managers 
and operators of facilities violate the quarantine guidelines, they are fined for up to KRW 3 million. 
In addition, in case of outdoor activities, those who are vaccinated (who have been vaccinated 
against the COVID-19 once or more and 14 days have passed since then) are excluded from the 
target for the fines, but when many people gather outdoors, even the vaccinated persons shall 
wear a mask regardless of the social distancing measures. 
There are exceptions from the fines, such as minors under 14, those in unavoidable situations 
where they have to show their faces such as washing your faces, eating foods, receiving or doing 
medical acts, and performing, and those with difficulties in wearing a mask. 
*Source: http://ncov.mohw.go.kr/ 

(2) Collection of Guidelines 

A. 10 Key Rules for Citizens for COVID-19 (Nov. 2020)

➊ Wear a mask indoors (medical institutions or the like) or outdoors with many people.
➋ Frequently wash your hands thoroughly for 30 seconds or longer with running water and soap.
➌ Avoid visiting places with bad ventilation and many people. 
➍ Cover your mouth and nose with your sleeve or a tissue when coughing or sneezing.
➎ Don’t touch your eyes, nose, and mouth without unwashed hands.
➏    Avoid contact with people who display symptoms of COVID-19, such as fever, cough, and 

difficulty breathing. 
B. Five Key Rules for Individual Infection Control (Nov. 2020)

➊ Stay home for 3 to 4 days if you feel unwell.
➋ Keep two arms’ distance between people.
➌ Wash your hands for 30 seconds. Cough into your sleeve.
➍ Ventilate at least twice a day and disinfect regularly.
➎ Stay connected while physically distancing.

C. Five Key Rules for Community Infection Control (Nov. 2020)

➊ Work together to protect your community.
➋ Designate a quarantine manager for effective response.
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➌ Make and respect your community’s quarantine guidelines.
➍ The quarantine manager will do the best to protect the community. 
➎  The leader and members of the community will provide full support for the quarantine manager.

D. How to Wear Mask Properly for Preventing COVID-19 (Dec. 2020)

➊ Wash your hands thoroughly with running water and soap before putting on the mask. 
➋  Completely cover your mouth and nose with the mask with no gap between your face and the mask. 
➌ Do not put a towel or tissue in the mask. 
➍ Do not touch the mask while wearing it. 
     * If you have touched the mask, thoroughly wash your hands with running water and soap. 

➎    When you take off the mask, just hold the strap and then wash your hands with running water 
and soap. 
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What you worry most about is to get a home you can comfortably 
stay in a foreign country. If your trip is going to be just short 
enough, you can just use various kinds of accommodations, but if 
you are to stay for a long time, you need to conclude a contract for 
housing. It is also very hard for even South Koreans to conclude a 
contract for a house, so it may feel much harder for foreigners to 
do so. Especially, there is the house lease type of ‘Jeonse (deposit-
based lease)’ which exists only in Korea, so it is very important to pick 
a contract type that fits your circumstances the best. Now you may 
feel it so difficult and even afraid of the contract-concluding process in 
Korea, but don’t worry. You can obtain a very cozy, comfortable house 
just by checking a few matters. 

If you have found a house for you and your family, now you need 
some more information for living in Korea. It’s impossible to live 
these days without a mobile phone or the Internet, right? In Korea, 
communication operators provide coupled communication services 
along with foreign-language consultations for foreigners. You can 
conveniently consult about how to open a mobile phone for your own.

After carefully reading this chapter, go for opening a mobile phone 
and experience the super-fast Internet in Korea. You can really 
realize that Korea is an IT powerhouse and it offers a very rapid 
service.
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Housing

House Purchases and Contracts 

1) House Purchases and Contracts

(1) Types of Houses (Article 2 Clause 1 of the Housing Act)

Detached houses
Multi-user houses
Multi-unit houses

Apartment houses
Row houses

Multi-household houses

Dormitories
Multi-purpose living facilities
Welfare houses for the elderly

Officetels

Detached housing Multi-family housing Quasi-housing

* Based on the classification standards of the Housing Act.

2) Types of Contracts for Housing Lease 

(1) Lease on a deposit basis (Jeonse)

The lease on a deposit basis (called ‘Jeonse’ in Korean) is a housing lease method which exists 
only in the Republic of Korea. The tenant pays a certain amount of deposit to the landlord, and 
lives in the house for the term of contract, and when the contract expires, the tenant receives 
the deposit back. The contracts for the lease on a deposit basis are concluded for two years in 
general (one year for officetels). The law regulates that the landlord may not break the contract 
within two years unless the tenant wants to break the contract. In addition, if the tenant wants, 
the tenant may request for the renewal of the contract for two years under the same conditions 
or within 5 percent of increase.

Guarantee for a Refund of Jeonse Deposit

The tenant for the lease on a deposit basis may subscribe for the ‘Guaranty Insurance for 
Repayment of Deposit of Lease on Deposit Basis’ of the Korea Housing & Urban Guarantee 
Corporation (HUG, www.khug.or.kr) for preparing against when the deposit is not repaid by 
the landlord. 
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(2) Monthly Rent 

A way of paying deposit when concluding the contract for lease and then paying a rent each 
month after the contract. If the house is the same size, the deposit for monthly rent is much lower 
than that of the lease on a deposit basis (Jeonse). In general, the lease contract only includes the 
rent for the space itself, without including the charges for electricity, water supply, gas, phone, 
and Internet. The charges must be borne by the lessee. Furniture and electronic products are not 
included in the contract for lease, but some multi-household houses and officetels are equipped 
with basic furniture such as a bed, refrigerator, and washing machine and some electronic 
products. 

3) How to Find House in Korea: Real Estate Agency

There are various ways to find a house in the Republic of Korea. You can meet a lessor through a 
direct real estate transaction websites, but in general people use real estate agencies. The real estate 
agencies show available houses, check needed matters on behalf of you, and prepare documents 
necessary for contracts, thereby helping you conveniently and safely find a new house. 
If you use a real estate agency, you must pay a legally determined commission. 
※ Real Estate Agency Commission

Currently, the real estate agency commission rate is determined in accordance with the amount of transactions. The 

commission is different between cities and provinces, and you can check it at the website for the Korea Association 

of Realtors (www.kar.or.kr). If a real estate agency demands an excessively high commission in comparison with the 

determined rate, you can report it to the illegal real estate agency accusation center at the offices of your city, county, or 

borough (si/gun/gu).

Seoul Real Estate Agency Commission Rate (2021)

Transaction Type Transaction Amount Upper Limit of Rate (%) Limit of Amount

Sale

Under KRW 50 million 0.6 KRW 250,000

KRW 50 million-under KRW 200 million 0.5 KRW 800,000

KRW 200 million-under KRW 900 million 0.4 None

KRW 900 million-under KRW 1.2 billion 0.5 None

KRW 1.2 billion-under KRW 1.5 billion 0.6 None

KRW 1.5 billion  or above 0.7 None

Lease or the 
like (Lease on a 
deposit basis, 
monthly rent)

Under KRW 50 million 0.5 KRW 200,000

KRW 50 million-under KRW 100 million 0.4 KRW 300,000

KRW 100 million-under KRW 600 million 0.3 None

KRW 600 million-under KRW 1.2 billion 0.4 None

KRW 1.2 billion-under KRW 1.5 billion 0.5 None

KRW 1.5 billion or above 0.6 None
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4) How to Find House in Korea: Real Estate Applications

You can find a one-room house, two-room house, officetel, share house, or apartment by using a 
real estate application for free of charge. You can find some place to reside for each region, subway 
station, and campus by downloading real estate applications from the Play Store of your smartphone. 
Or you can also use ‘Put My Room on Sale or Lease’ when you want to move.

5) Checklist for a Housing Contract  

(1)    Check if all the content is correctly included or not, such as the location of the house, amount of 
contract, amount and time for paying the middle payment and the remainder, term of contract, 
and signature or seal of the lessor and the lessee. 

(2)    Check who is the actual owner of the house, and check the status of the owner, the power of 
attorney of the consignee of the owner, etc. before concluding the contract. You can check who 
is the actual owner of the house on a certified copy of the register. 

(3)    Within 14 days after moving into the new house, report the change of your place of stay to the 
Service Center of the office of your borough (gu) or the immigration service center.  

(4)    Visit the office of register or the local administration and welfare center, and get the definite date 
on the contract.  
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Electricity·Gas·Water Supply

1) Characteristics of Electricity, Gas, and Water Supply in Republic of Korea 

(1) Electricity 

The housing voltage in the Republic of Korea is mostly 220 V. If you use any electronic product 
for 110 V, you need a small transformer.

(2) Gas for Living 

There is a middle valve on the pipe for supplying gas to homes. If you use the gas, open the valve, 
ignite the fire, and close the valve after using the gas always. You also need to receive safety check 
on a regular basis. The city gas is checked for safety on a regular basis (every six months) by the 
supplier. In case of LPG, you need to directly request for the check to the delivery company. 

(3) Water Supply 

The water quality in the Republic of Korea is very excellent, ranking eighth in the water quality 
index among the countries selected by the U.N.  
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2) Utility Charges

(1) What are utility charges? 

The share the users pay for the charge imposed in accordance with the usage by the government 
or a public agency. Mostly, you need to pay for the amount you have used for a month. You can 
pay the charges with a credit card or set an automatic payment on your bank account, and you 
may be get some discount for that.  Recently, various electronic notice/payment services are also 
available.

(2) How to pay utility charges 

➊ Payment at the bank windows or at the automatic payment machine 

You can visit a nearby bank and pay your utility charges at the windows or at the automatic 
payment machine. But, you need to possess your own bankbook or card, and you may have to 
pay commission if it is not a bank where you have an account.

➋ Payment on the Internet 

You can pay your utility charges at the Giro website (www.giro.or.kr) operated by the Korea 
Financial Telecommunications and Clearings Institute. In addition, you can pay them by clicking 
on the Utility Charges menu on your main bank’s website. 

* (Operating Hours) 7:00 a.m.-10:00 p.m. all the year round. (Inquiry) 1577-5500 (Language) Korean 

➌ Automatic Withdrawal

The automatic withdrawal is to make the relevant amount automatically withdrawn from your 
bankbook at a determined date of each month. It is convenient since you don’t need to go to 
a bank yourself, but if you have no money in your bank account at the date for the withdrawal, 
you may be delayed to pay for your charges, so you need to check your balance in advance. 

➍ Payment at Convenience Store 

You can pay for utility charges through a Giro bill by visiting a nearby convenience store. You 
can pay by this way 24/7 all the year round. In general, the convenience stores where you can 
pay the charges are indicated on the Giro bill.

➎ Payment at Post Office 

You can also pay utility charges at a nearby post office. Visit a post office with your Giro bill, 
and you can process the payment at the windows.

(3) Charges 

The charges for water supply, gas, and electricity vary according to the region and usage, so you 
need to check out the details at the website.
※ Below tables are prepared based on the charges for households or houses in Seoul. 
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Water Supply Charges in Seoul (for Households)

Category CategoryUse Category (m²) Use Category (m²)Charge per m²(KRW) Charge per m² (KRW)

Water 
Supply Per 1m² 480

Sewer

0-30 400

Over 30-50 930

Water Use 
Charge  Per 1m² 170

Over 50 1,420

KRW 400 per 1 m2 of leaked groundwater

* Website for Water Supply Customer Service Center (Arisu): https://i121.seoul.go.kr

City Gas Charges in Seoul (for Houses)

Usage Charge (KRW/MJ)

For Houses
Cooking 14.2243

Heating 14.2243

* Website for KOREA CITY GAS ASSOCIATION: http://www.citygas.or.kr/info/charge.jsp

Electricity Charges (for Houses)

Summer Season (Jul. 1-Aug. 31)

Section Basic Charge (KRW/Household) Electricity Charge (KRW/kWh)

1 Use for 300 kWh or below 910 88.3

2 301-450 kWh 1,600 182.9

3 Over 450 kWh 7,300 275.6

※ Superuser charges: The electricity charge for the use of over 1,000 kWh is KRW 704.5/kWh.

Other Seasons (Jan. 1-Jun. 30, Sep. 1-Dec. 31)

Section Basic Charge (KRW/Household) Electricity Charge (KRW/kWh)

1 Use for 200 kWh or below 910 88.3

2 201-400 kWh 1,600 182.9

3 Over 400 kWh 7,300 275.6

※ Superuser charges: The electricity charge for the use of over 1,000 kWh is KRW 704.5/kWh.
* Official website for KEPCO Cyber Store: http://cyber.kepco.co.kr
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Communication

1) Telephone and Internet 

(1) Landline Phones and Internet 

Korean communications operators deal with the fixed line phones for homes, Internet phones, 
mobile phones, Internet, Internet TV, etc. altogether. There are major ones such as KT, SK 
Broadband, and LG U+, and you can apply for a service by phone or Internet. When you apply, 
an installation technician will be dispatched to your desired place. If you use a coupled product 
(a product of coupled services provided by the same communications operator), you can enjoy 
a discount in charges. In addition, you need to pay for the costs such as subscription fee, basic 
charge, and equipment (modem) use charges. If you select a specific product, you may have 
different charges and benefits between the operators. So you need to be strict in examining the 
costs and services. You can read descriptions on their products and benefits on the websites of 
the operators. In general, the contract is concluded for one year, or two to three years and you 
may get a discount, but if you terminate the contract before the expiration, you may have to pay 
for the penalty. 
* If you are a foreigner, you need your passport and Residence Card when subscribing for a service. 

Communications Operator Website and Phone

Website: http://www.kt.com
Language: Korean
Inquiry: 100
Consultation in foreign languages: 1588-8448

Website: http://www.skbroadband.com
Language: Korean, English, Chinese, Japanese
Inquiry: 106
Consultation in foreign languages: 080-8282-1063

Website: http://www.uplus.co.kr
Language: Korean
Inquiry: 101

(2) Mobile Phone 

Mobile communication operators such as the SKT, KT, and LGT provide consultation services in 
foreign languages. You can conveniently select the charge type and open your mobile phone by 
using the service. You can pay for your mobile phone charges by a pre-paid method to use for 
the amount you have paid for or a post-paid method to pay for the amount you have used later. 
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A pre-paid mobile phone requires a higher cost than the other one, but you can use it for only 
a period you want without a period of contract (for one to three years in general), so it may be 
proper for foreigners staying in Korea for a short period of time. You can open one line for the pre-
paid mobile phone if you only possess your passport. You can open a post-paid mobile phone 
basically by the same way as the Koreans do, but the number of openable mobile phones, the 
possibility of purchasing a mobile phone on installment payments, the exemption of deposit, or 
the like differ according to your foreigner stay code, so you had better check the details and then 
subscribe. 
※    NOTE for opening a mobile phone as a foreigner: If you are a foreigner and wants to open a mobile phone, you 

need to possess your Residence Card or your Address Report Certificate, and you can pay for your charges only 

from your own bankbook or credit card.

Communications Operator Details

- No deposit money required. Pre-paid system available.
- Credit card or bank account in Korea is required.
- Consultation available in English, Chinese, and Japanese.
-  Inquiry: 114, 1583 (mobile phone), 02-2190-1180 (fixed-line phone)
- Website: http://www.kt.com

- Subscription available only after paying the deposit.
- Consultation available in English, Chinese, and Japanese.
- Inquiry: 114, 080-011-6000 (for free), 1599-0011 (charged)
- Website: http://www.tworld.co.kr

- The same as Koreans. Bank account required.
- Inquiry: 114, 1544-0010 (charged)
- Website: http://www.uplus.co.kr
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(3) International Call

When you are placing a phone call from Korea to another country, it is much more expensive than 
the charge in the country. It is cheaper to buy an international call card online or at a convenience 
store. Or you can first press the international call service numbers, and these services have 
different charges, so it is important to check out details beforehand. 
※ International Call Service Numbers

KT: 001 

SK Telink: 00700 

LG U+: 002 

Sejong Telecom: 00365 

•When calling from Korea to 123-4567 in L.A. in the U.S.

International 
call service 

number Country No. (U.S.) Area Code (L.A.) Phone No.

+   ❶   +   ❷❶❸   +   ❶❷❸ - ❹❺❻❼
Calling a fixed-line 

phone

•Calling from Korea to 080-123-4567 of mobile phone in Japan

International 
call service 

number Country No. (Japan) Mobile Phone No.

+   ❽❶   +   ❽  - ❶❷❸ - ❹❺❻❼
Calling a mobile 

phone

(4) Area Code 

The Republic of Korea has a total of 17 area codes. In the same region, you just need to press the 
phone number without an area code. If you call another region, you need to press the area code first 
and then press the phone number to talk to the desired person. In case of wireless phone, you need 
to first press the area code and then press the phone number no matter where you are calling. 

Seoul 02 Incheon 032 Ulsan 053

Busan 051 Gwangju 062 Sejong 044

Daegu 053 Daejeon 042 Gyeonggi 031

Gangwon 033 Chungbuk 043 Chungnam 041

Jeonbuk 063 Jeonnam 061 Gyeongbuk 054

Gyeongnam 055 Jeju 064

2) Broadcast 

The Republic of Korea has a large number of types of broadcasting channels including the public 
TV networks, comprehensive programming channels, cable TV networks, local cable TV networks, 
and satellite TV. In addition, the Internet-based IPTV is also widely spread. Among the local cable 
networks and IPTV companies, some provide an ultra-fast Internet line, and some others give you 
discount benefits if you subscribe for both the cable TV and the Internet.
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(1) Types of Broadcast

Public TV networks KBS, MBC, SBS, EBS, local broadcast networks

Cable TV networks

-    Multi-channel TV networks with various broadcast channels for news, movies, 
music, entertainment, documentary film, sports, religion, education, home 
shopping, and other purposes with broadcast and communication engaged 
with each other.

-    If a foreigner wants to subscribe, he/she needs to check what sort of 
documents they require since it differs according to the broadcast channels.
*  Required information for subscription: Name, phone number, address, Residence 

Card

-    The phone number of each region’s cable broadcast channels is provided by 
the KCTA.
* Website for the KCTA: http://www.kcta.or.kr (Language: English)

Satellite TV
-   You can watch channels for movies, news, music, sports, and audio including 

local broadcast networks after installing a satellite antenna and a receiver.
- In Korea, Skylife provides charged broadcast service.

IPTV

- KT (Olleh TV), SK Broadband (B TV), LG U+ (U+ TV
-    A charged broadcast service for you to enjoy desired programs at a desired 

time through a super-fast Internet network and an IP set-top box of the 
operators. 

-    You can even watch the public TV and the cable TV channels in real time, and 
also enjoy VOD services.

* Source: <2018 Survey on Broadcast Media Use Types> by Korea Communications Commission
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Residential Wastes Treatment

The Republic of Korea operates the ‘volume-rate garbage disposal system’ which requires you to pay 
for the amount of wastes you discard. So you need to classify the types of wastes and separates 
the reusable wastes. Here, you must put the wastes in designated bags for each type of waste at a 
designated place. 

1) Regular Wastes 

(1) You must put and discard regular wastes in a standard plastic garbage bag.
(2) You can purchase the bag at a nearby supermarket or convenience store.
(3)    The size and color of regular waste bags and food waste bags differ according to the region, 

so you need to check it first.
(4) The bags for regular wastes for households are proper mostly in 10 liters and 20 liters.

2) Food Wastes 

(1)    You must drain the water in the food wastes and then put the food wastes in the food wastes 
bag and discard it. 

(2)    Some regions use the standard food waste bag, and some others require you to purchase a 
sticker or a certificate for discarding food wastes. 

(3)    Still other regions operate the volume-rate food wastes disposal system using the RFID 
method, so you need to check the guidelines in your region. 

(4)    Recently, more people are using the food wastes disposal machine for households. Major 
products are to be used by being installed on the sink. If you use such a machine, you can 
omit the standard garbage bag, so it is convenient.

Regular Wastes You May Consider as Food Wastes

Type Item
Vegetables Onion coat, cornhusk, corn stalk, pepper stem

Fruits
Hard shells of nuts such as walnuts, chestnuts, peanuts, and acorns

Hard seeds of stone-fruits such as peaches, apricots, and persimmons

Meat Hair and feathers and bones of cows, pigs, chickens, or the like

Fish & Shellfish Shells of shellfish such as clams, conches, abalones, sea squirts, and oysters

Food Residue Residue from tea (green tea, oriental medicine) packed with paper, cloth, etc.

※ The above must be discarded in the regular waste bag.
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3) Reusable Products 

(1)    Reusable articles are all should be classified and discarded. Included are papers, bottles, iron, 
cans, vinyl, and packing papers (only those with the separate discharge marks such as the 
PP, OTHER, and LDPE in the triangular recycle mark), and plastics. Reusable wastes must be 
cleaned, washed, and discarded to remove the content and foreign substances. In addition, 
if there are labels or caps made of different materials in a single reusable product, you must 
separate them and discard the product. 

(2) You can separately discard the wastes at a place prepared near your house.  

How To Reduce Food Wastes

• Purchase only the minimum volume of foods considering the diet plans and the shelf life.
• Purchase those small-packaged, neat-packaged, and half-processed foods.
• Use transparent containers for storing foods in the refrigerator.
• Cook just the proper amount of foods by using measuring instruments.
• Organize the inside of the refrigerator on a regular basis.
• Separately collect and store foods remaining after cooking.

4) Large Wastes 

Large wastes such as furniture and electronic products which cannot be put in a standard garbage 
bag must be discarded in accordance with the designated method in each region.

(1) Types of discharge methods

➊    Put a sticker purchased at your community center on the waste and place the waste in front of 
your house. Here, the sticker’s price differs according to the type and volume of articles. Some 
regions sell the sticker at a designated store such as a local supermarket.

➋    You can purchase the sticker by applying for it online at the website of your borough or county 
(gu/gun). You can contact a waste collector company designated in your region, and handle 
the wastes by paying a certain amount of price for the size and types of the wastes.
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Utility  
Charges

City Gas

Separate  
Waste  
Collection

#
Application 
Search 
Keyword QR

App Store (iOS) Google Play (Android)
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                L i v i n g  i n  K O R E A  2 0 2 2

When you live in a foreign country with your family, and especially 
if you have a child, you may have many concern about their 
education. You may have to decide so many things such as which 
school your children should enter or if they just can attend any 
school or the like. Korea has general educational courses such as 
kindergarten, elementary, middle, and high school, and college 
and university just as in any other country. However, you may worry 
if your children can adapt to the normal school in the country. But 
don’t worry, there are various schools and educational agencies for 
foreigners in South Korea. 

In addition, you can take a short trip to a foreign country but you 
also can stay for a long time and might need to work for living. As 
in Chapter 2, foreigners and their family members have different 
eligibility for working in Korea in accordance with their VISA. There 
are many agencies that provide information for employment so you 
may use the service and consider to get a job in Korea.

This chapter describes how to obtain information for getting a job 
in Korea and which school your children should enter. 
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Education

1) Educational System in the Republic of Korea

(1) Day Care Center, Kindergarten

Day care centers are child-rearing facilities according to the Child Care Act for young children 
and infants under age six before entering the elementary school. Day care centers include public 
day care centers, social welfare corporation day care centers, corporation/organization day care 
centers, workplace day care centers, home day care centers, cooperative day care centers, and 
private day care centers. Day care centers operate for 12 hours or longer on weekdays, six days 
a week. Their prices and operations differ according to the type of the day care centers. 
Kindergartens are a school according to the Early Childhood Education Act. Unlike the day 
care centers taking care of infants and young children, kindergartens are schools operated for 
education of infants and young children. Kindergartens are divided into ‘national kindergartens’ 
established and managed by the government, ‘public kindergartens’ established and managed 
by local governments, and ‘private kindergartens’ established and managed by corporations or 
private individuals. 

Currently, the infant education for three years right before entering elementary school is provided 
for free of charge. On top of that, young children reaching three to five years of age as of 2021 
can receive support for educational (kindergarten) and rearing (day care center) costs regardless 
of the income level of their parents. To get this subsidy, visit your local community center or visit 
the website online*. 
* Bokjiro website: http://www.bokjiro.go.kr (Language: English, Chinese, Japanese, Vietnamese)

Subsidy for Educational Costs and After-School Course Costs for Infants (applied from 1 Mar. 2021)

Category Age National/Public
Kindergartens

Amount (KRW/Month)

Private 
Kindergartens Day Care Centers

Educational costs for infants
(Kindergarten)

Rearing costs
(Day care center)

5

80,000 260,000 260,0004

3

After-school course costs 3-5 50,000 70,000 70,000
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(2) Curriculum of Elementary, Middle, and High Schools

The educational courses of the Republic of Korea include six years in elementary school, 
three in middle school, three in high school, and four in university (two to three in college). The 
elementary school and the middle school are obligatory education for free of tuition. Recently, 
the legislation bill for free education at high school has passed, so starting the third graders at 
high school as of the second semester in 2019, the free education is extended for high school 
education for free of charge across the nation from 2021. However, private schools still may 
charge the tuition, and the amount of tuition varies according to school.  

In elementary school, a child shall enter the school in March of the next year to the day when the 
child has become six years old, and shall enter a middle school after graduating the elementary 
school. Those who have graduated from middle school and those who are acknowledged to 
have the same academic ability as that of those who graduated middle school can enter high 
school.  

The Korean educational system operates its programs by having two semesters in a single year. 
When the first semester ends, a summer vacation starts for around a month, and when the 
second semester ends, a winter vacation for around a month and year-end vacation for one to 
two weeks starts until March next year. In general, the first semester starts in early March, while 
the second one starts around the end of August and early September. 

Types of High School 

Regular high school
Regular high school accounts for the greatest portion, and the students are 
selected by drawing lots or by the Principal based on the results in the middle 
school.

Autonomous high school
A high school which is allowed to autonomously operate the school and the 
curriculum. It is divided into ‘autonomous public high school’ and ‘autonomous 
private high school.’

Special-purpose high 
school

A high school performing special education on special areas. There are science 
high school, foreign language high school, international high school, art high 
school, sport high school, and industrial demand-customized high school. 
The students are selected based on the student records in middle school, 
recommendation letters, interview, and practical test, etc.

Specialized vocational 
high school

A high school that performs education for nurturing talents in a specific field 
or education based on experiences such as natural field study. In general, the 
students receive special vocational education other than the curriculum, including 
agricultural/bio industry, industry, commerce, information, marine industry, etc.
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(3) College

The way Korean students enter a college is divided into a rolling admission and a regular 
admission. The rolling admission is to select students based on the student records and results 
of essay and practical tests, while the regular one requires the students to take the CSAT (College 
Scholastic Ability Test) and to submit the results. The method of selecting students varies 
according to the college and university, so you need to check the college or university entrance 
guidelines first.

Types of College

There are four-year university, industrial university, university of education, broadcast and 
communication university, cyber university, two to three-year college, and technical college, and 
the like.

2) Characteristics of Education in Republic of Korea

(1) Private Educational Institutes

-    In the Republic of Korea, the private educational institute industry is highly advanced. The 
number of those institutes is around 80 thousand across the nation, with around 18.05 million 
students and around 310 thousand lecturers. (KEES Educational Statistics Service, as of 2020) 

-    The private educational institutes are divided into ‘college entrance exam preparation institutes’ 
for such subjects as Korean, English, and mathematics, ‘employment preparation institutes’ 
such as those for becoming public servants or TV announcers, ‘arts and sports institutes’ for 
fine art, cartoons, piano, etc. There are much different types of private educational institutes in 
the country.  

(2) College Entrance Rate of Republic of Korea  

Korea has a very high college entrance rate because of its high enthusiasm for education since 
the period when obligatory education started. Its college entrance rate is one of the highest 
among the OECD member nations. The college entrance rate of those who graduated from high 
school in 2020 is 72.5%.

(Unit: %)

Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Total 69.8 68.9 69.7 70.4 72.5

* Source: Educational Statistics Analysis Data



77  Education and Employment

3) Foreign Schools and Foreign Educational Institutions 

(1) Foreign Schools

Foreign schools are founded to provide the children of foreigners residing in the Republic of Korea 
the education of their own country. There are a total of 40 foreign schools in the Republic of 
Korea. Over half of them are in Seoul, with several others in Gyeonggi Province and Busan. Most 
of foreign schools use English as the official language, and follows the American curriculum. To 
enter a Korean college or university, the foreign school students need to separately receive the 
education of Korean language and history acknowledged by the Ministry of Education. However, 
in order to enter an overseas college or university, the foreign school students can just receive 
the curriculum in those foreign schools. You need to check if a foreign school has an educational 
program acknowledged for entering a college or not before entering the foreign school.  

The number of enrolled students varies much according to school, ranging from around 100 
persons to around 1,500 persons. The tuition is around USD 15 thousand to USD 25 thousand per 
year, and considering other costs such as for school bus, textbooks, and activities, the total cost 
will be more. 

The standards for admission differ from school to school, and the laws and regulations for foreign 
schools are changed so frequently that it is most accurate to directly inquire of the school you 
want to enter.
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(2) Foreign Educational Institutions 

Foreign educational institutions refer to those educational institutions which already operate 
educational institutions overseas according to foreign laws and regulations and which are 
founded in the Republic of Korea by the government, local government or a non-profit 
corporation by receiving the approval of the Minister of Education of the Republic of Korea. There 
are a total of seven of them in the Republic of Korea. 

Course School Name Region Remark

Kindergarten, 
Elementary, 
Secondary 
Education

Daegu International School Daegu/
Gyeongbuk The U.S.

Chadwick International School Songdo Incheon The U.S.

Higher 
Education

SUNY Korea
SUNY Stony Brook University

Incheon The U.S.
SUNY Fashion Institute of Technology

University of Utah Asia Campus Incheon The U.S.

Ghent University Global Campus Incheon Belgium

George Mason University in Korea Incheon The U.S.

(3) International Schools in Jeju

The international schools in Jeju are established in the Jeju English Education City by receiving 
the approval of the superintendent of education of Jeju. There are a total of four of them in Jeju.
- KIS High School
- Saint Johnsberry Academy Jeju
- Branksome Hall Asia
- NLCS Jeju
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Educational Institutions’ Comparison Table

Despite their similar names, the foreign schools, foreign educational institutions, and international schools in Jeju vary in 

the ground laws and ordinances and the qualification for admission, etc.

Category Foreign School Foreign Educational Institution International School in Jeju

Qualification for 
admission

- Child of a foreigner
-    Korean who has lived 

in overseas country for 
three years or longer

-    Child of a naturalized 
Korean citizen, who 
is determined to have 
difficulties in continuously 
receive learning in general 
elementary or secondary 
education schools.

No limit. No limit.

Entrance rate of 
Koreans

30% of the total number of 
students (extendable up to 
50% by educational rules 

of city or province)

Elementary/Secondary 
education: 30% of the total 

number of students
(extendable up to 50% by 
educational rules of city or 

province)
- Higher education: No limit.

No limit.

Status of 
foundation/
operation

38 schools across the 
Republic of Korea

- Two kindergarten/
elementary/secondary 

education schools
- Five higher education 

schools

Four schools (KIS 
High School, LCS Jeju, 

Branksome Hall Asia, SJA 
Jeju)

* Source: Information of Foreign Educational Institutions and Foreign Schools (https://www.isi.go.kr)

Want to know about foreign schools in Korea?

You can check the details at the website operated by the Ministry of Education, Science, 
and Technology. The website introduces foreign kindergartens, foreign schools, 
international schools, etc. in the Republic of Korea, and provides a variety of information 
such as the contact information, website, start date of classes, location, and type of each 
educational institution. In addition, it provides the link to the website of each educational 
institution for your convenience.
Website: https://www.isi.go.kr
Language: English
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Education and Employment

Employment

1) Employment Information

Foreigners are determined to be able to be employed or not in accordance with their purpose of 
entering the Republic of Korea and their type of VISA issued. If you receive the Marriage Immigration 
(F-6) VISA and enter the country, you are legally qualified to be employed. You can more conveniently 
get information on employment in the Republic of Korea by using the below website. 

(1) Seoul Global Center 

This is a website operated by the Seoul Metropolitan Government, which provides information 
of EXPO, employment assistance, and employment of companies for foreigners residing in the 
Republic of Korea in English and Chinese.
Website: http://global.seoul.go.kr 
Phone: 02-2075-4180  

(2) Foreigner Employment Management System 

A website which provides the employment assistance services including various civil complaint 
and request application and application status check to business operators and foreign workers 
residing in the Republic of Korea. It is convenient since it provides websites in 20 or more 
different languages such as English, Chinese, Thai, and Vietnamese concerning the employment 
permission system, employment procedure, type of business for possible employment or the like. 
You get different services according to your type of VISA such as General Foreigner (E-9) and 
Special Case Foreigner (H-2).
Website: http://www.eps.go.kr
Phone: 043-870-8000, 1577-7114  

(3) Foreigner Information Center

A portal site for providing a variety of information for foreigners residing in the Republic of Korea. 
It offers various services such as electronic civil complaint and request application, employment 
support, and investment assistance.
Website: http://www.hikorea.go.kr 
Phone: 1345
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2) KOTRA Employment Recommendation Letter System 

KOTRA operates the employment recommendation letter system for public agencies/private 
corporations who wish to employ excellent foreign talents and technicians, which is to issue an 
employment recommendation letter in the name of the president of KOTRA for supporting the 
issuance of the Specific Activities VISA (E-7).
Phone : 02-3460-7388, 02-3460-7387 
E-mail : contactkorea@kotra.or.kr 

(1) Qualifications for Latest Technological Talents  

➊    Those who hold a master’s degree or higher in the related field (without needing career in the 
field)  

➋    Those who hold a bachelor’s degree or higher in the related field in the Republic of Korea 
(without needing career in the field) 

➌    Those who hold the bachelor’s degree in a foreign country + Those who have career in the 
field for one year or longer 

➍ Those who have career in the field for five years or longer
※    You can apply for the employment recommendation letter only if you are a talent who satisfies the qualifications 

and has evidential documents (certificate of the degree or the career) attached.  

(2) Eligibility for Employment Recommendation Letter

Eight latest technological areas such as IT, technology management, nano technology, digital 
electronics, bio technology, transport and machinery, new materials, and environmental energy.
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(3) Issuance Procedure 

➊    Check if you are a target for the issuance: Check the type of business and work targeted for 
the issuance of the employment recommendation letter, and check the requirements to issue 
the letter to the employees in the relevant type of work. 

➋   Application at website: https://contactkorea.kotra.or.kr/index.do 
Subscribe as a company member, fill in the online application form, and upload the files of 
required documents.  

➌    Documents review: When it is requested to supplement the documents, you need to amend 
the application.

➍ Check of the career: Check the academic background and career. 
➎ External examination
➏ Download the employment recommendation letter from the website.
➐ Submit the letter to the Immigration Bureau (a procedure for acquiring the E-7 VISA).

Foreigner-assistant services and institutions

The Korean government and private groups provide services for helping foreigners live 
in the country including education of Korean language and culture and consultation. 
Especially, you can use various services through foreigner assistance agencies when you 
have just entered the Republic of Korea and have difficulties in communication and in 
adapting to the Korean culture and relationships with new Korean friends. On top of the 
below representative foreigner assistance websites, there are diverse centers for foreigners 
who live in each region. 

※ Foreigner assistance agency 

- Hamular

Website: https://www.mcfamily.or.kr/intro_web.php 
Phone: 02-843-5431 
Language: 11 languages including English, Chinese, Japanese, and Vietnamese 

- Danuri 

Website: https://www.liveinkorea.kr/ 
Phone: 1577-1366 
Language: 13 languages including English, Chinese, Japanese, and Vietnamese 

- Korea Support Center for Foreign Workers 

Website: https://k.migrantok.org/ 
Phone: 1644-0644 
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Employment

#
Application 
Search 
Keyword QR

App Store (iOS) Google Play (Android)
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                L i v i n g  i n  K O R E A  2 0 2 2

When you stay in a foreign country, you need to move to various 
regions and you may wonder what you should take to go there. It 
may feel more difficult since the main means of transportation and 
the transportation systems differ between countries. 

The public transportation in Korea is excellent, so you can enjoy 
convenient transportation if you seek just a little information. Korea 
has short distances between regions along with a highly advanced 
transportation system, so you can go anywhere in the country ‘within 
a day.’ 

If you have to stay in this country for a long time, maybe it would 
be hard to go around just by public transportation. Then, you may 
need to purchase a car for your own. Then, you need to obtain the 
driver’s license in Korea and register your car. 

In addition, while you are staying in Korea, you may need to use 
some public facilities. You may seek some administrative agencies 
for various certificates or need to send some mail and use a bank 
for remittance or the like. 

Therefore, this chapter introduces the major means of 
transportation, public agencies, convenience facilities, and their 
operating hours and how to use them. Please be well aware of the 
information and it would be great to enjoy the fast processing of 
your requests in Korea. 
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Transportation

1) Transportation Card

(1) Pre-paid Transportation Card

The pre-paid transportation card can be purchased/charged at convenience stores, subway 
stations, and small stores on the street across the country for various means of transportation in 
the Republic of Korea. Representative ones include the T-money card and the Cashbee card.
The pre-paid transportation card is to be charged, and you can recharge it after you have used 
it up. If you have insufficient balance left, you cannot get the transfer discount, so you need to 
check and charge the card in advance. 

You can check the places where you can use them at the website of the T-money (www.
t-money.co.kr) and that of the Cashbee (www.cashbee.co.kr).

(2) Post-paid Transportation Card

The pre-paid transportation card needs to be charged before use, but if you just add the post-
paid transportation card feature to your credit card or check card, you can pay the fares for 
public transportation on the day you pay for your credit card bills.
But, you need a credit card or check card first, so if you have difficulties in having one of such 
cards issued, it is convenient to just use the pre-paid one.
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(3) One-time Transportation Card

The one-time transportation card can be used only in the subway, and can be purchased at the 
‘One-time Card Seller/Charger’ at the subway stations. You can select the destination and input 
the fare and the deposit (KRW 500), and then the one-time transportation card can be issued. 
After getting off the train, input the card into the ‘Deposit Payment Machine’ and then you can 
get your deposit money back.

2) Means of Transportation

(1) Subway 

In the Republic of Korea, you can use the subway in the capital area, Busan, Daegu, Gwangju, 
and Daejeon. The subway runs normally from 5:30 a.m. until midnight. On special days such as 
Chuseok (Korean Thanksgiving Day), the Lunar New Year’s Day, and the year-ends, the subway 
may run for longer time at night for convenience of the citizens. If you want to transfer at a 
subway station for transfer, just follow the mark for ‘Transfer’ and you can check the direction of 
the route on the way. (You can check the route map in the Appendix of the Guidebook.)
As of January 2021, the basic fare for subway in Seoul, Gyeonggi, and Incheon is KRW 1,250, and 
an additional fare is incurred if you travel for longer than a specific distance. You can check the 
additional fare information at www.seoulmetro.co.kr.

The early morning fare system applies to the capital area subway, and you can use the subway 
by paying the fare with a 20% discount from the first train until 6:30 a.m.
*But, if you transfer from another means of transportation, you are excluded from the discount.

Subway

Type Target Transportation Card

Adults - KRW 1,250

Adolescents Age 13 to 18 KRW 720

Children Age 6 to under 13, elementary school students KRW 450
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(2) Bus

Types and Fare of Bus

Type Blue 
(Artery)

Green 
(Branch)

Yellow 
(Circulatory)

Red 
(Broad-Range) M Bus Town Bus

Characteristics Artery bus 
driving long 
distances in 

Seoul (3 digits 
of number)

Bus for 
connecting 

transfer 
between 
bus and 

subway inside 
transportation 

districts (4 
digits of 
number)

Bus for 
circulating for 

short distances 
in city centers 

and sub centers 
(2 digits of 
number)

Broad-
range bus for 
connecting 

Seoul and cities 
in the capital 
area at a high 

speed (4 digits 
of number)

A broad-
range express 

bus with no 
passenger 
standing in 

the bus. It has 
the minimum 

number of 
stops.

A small bus 
running for 

short distances 
within Seoul 

city

Basic
c Fare 

(Card) 1,200
(Cash) 1,300

(Card) 1,100
(Cash) 1,200

(Card) 2,300 
(Cash) 2,400

(Card) 2,800 
(Cash) 2,900

(Card) 900 
(Cash) 1,000

*  The bus fare differs according to the region, and you can find the information at each region’s transportation 
information website for the information in other regions than Seoul.

 Useful Information for Bus Passengers 

- The card balance must be kept to be KRW 250 or over for transfer.
-    The transfer is not applied to the same vehicle/same route, and when you re-ride the 

same vehicle, the basic fare is imposed. 
-    If the same number of persons ride/get off/transfer in the City Bus, the transfer of multiple 

people is applied. 
-    Morning discount: Passengers who use the Transportation Card before 6:30 a.m. 

(excluding the Night Bus)
- Night Bus: From midnight to 4:00 a.m.

(3) Express Bus 

Express buses are divided into three categories of Regular, Superior, and Premium. Superior 
Express Bus has larger seats than those of the Regular Express Bus, along with a TV. The 
Premium Express Bus has a monitor and a mini table for each seat. You can book a ticket on the 
website in advance, and you had better check the information since the terminals are different 
between destinations. 
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-  Seoul Express Bus Terminal 

(Gyeongbu Line, Yeongdong Line)

Address: 194 Sinbanpo-ro, 
Seocho-gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea 
(Express Bus Terminal Station)

- Central City (Honam Line)

Address: 176 Sinbanpo-ro, 
Seocho-gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea

- Express Bus Reservation Service 

Website: www.kobus.co.kr  
(Language: English, Chinese, 
Japanese)
Phone: 1644-9030 

(4) Intercity Bus

You can use the intercity bus instead of 
express bus for a long distance. It has more 
terminals, so you can select a terminal nearer 
to your destination. You can book the ticket 
online beforehand, or buy a ticket at the 
terminal in person.
There is a convenient website called 
‘BUSTAGO’ to book the tickets, along with the 
‘Intercity Bus Booking’ provided by T-money.
 
- BUSTAGO

Website: www.bustago.or.kr (Language: English, Chinese, Japanese) 
Phone: 1644-2992 

- Booking for Intercity Bus 

Website: http://txbuse.t-money.co.kr (Language: English, Chinese, Japanese) 
Phone: 1644-3070
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Airport Bus and Airport Railroad

□ Airport Bus
You can use the airport bus in order to go to the Incheon or the Gimpo International 
Airport. Many people use the bus since it is convenient, low-cost, with a large number 
of routes. You can check the schedule and fare in accordance with the region at the 
website of the Incheon and the Gimpo International Airports. 
- Incheon International Airport

Website: www.airport.kr ＞ Transportation/Parking ＞ Public Transportation ＞ Bus 
Search (Language: English, Chinese, Japanese)

- Gimpo International Airport
Website: https://www.airport.co.kr/gimpo/index.do ＞ Transportation/Parking ＞ Public 
Transportation ＞ Bus (Language: English, Chinese, Japanese)

□ Airport Railroad
Other than the airport bus, you have another way of moving fast and comfortably to the 
Incheon International Airport: the airport railroad. It has the route of Incheon International 
Airport-Gimpo International Airport-Seoul Station. For details, visit the website at www.arex.or.kr 
(Language: English, Chinese, Japanese).

□ Direct Train 
The direct trains move between the Incheon International Airport and the Seoul Station without 
stopping in between.

Required Time First Train/Last Train Fare

(Terminal 1) 43 min.
(Terminal 2) 51 min.

Departing from Seoul Station (First) 06:10
(Last) 22:50 Adults: KRW 9,000

Children: KRW 7,000Departing from Terminal 2 at 
Incheon International Airport

(First) 05:15
(Last) 22:40

Inquiry: 1599-7788 

□ City Air Terminal 
The City Air Terminal provides services for going through the boarding and immigration 
in advance and moving to the Incheon International Airport. You can visit at the desired 
time on the day for leaving the country for the boarding process in advance.
*  You can also entrust the luggage and conveniently move to the airport by the direct train.   
*    But, it is finished three hours before departing from the Incheon International Airport 

and three hours and 20 minutes before the flights of Korean Air. 
- Location: 2nd underground floor at Seoul Station of Airport Railroad
-    Services: Boarding service, luggage service, immigration service (limited to the 

international flights departing from the Incheon International Airport on the same day).
-    Target: Those who use the direct train. You can use the City Air Terminal after 

purchasing the ticket for the direct train.
- Operating Hours: (boarding) 05:20 a.m.-7:00 p.m. (immigration) 07:00 a.m.-7:00 p.m.



91  Transportation and Public Convenience Facilities

(5) Taxi 

There are a large number of taxis at a low cost in the Republic of Korea, so taxi is picked as a very 
useful transportation means. You can take one on the street, and can ride one at a Taxi Stand in 
major tourist destinations. All taxis have a meter to calculate the fare, and the basic fare differs 
according to the type of taxi (regular, international, model, large, etc.). You can pay for the fare 
by cash, credit card, or pre-paid transportation card, and the fare differs according to the type, 
distance, and time zone between cities and provinces. 

Types and Fare of Taxi

Regular Taxi Features
Regular taxis are the cheapest and the most common. You can take them with ease 
anywhere, anytime. It is normally orange in color, but it has many other different 
colors such as white and gray.

Fare
Basic fare: (Day) KRW 3,800 until 2 km (Night) KRW 4,600 until 2 km
Extra fare: 20% for over city borders and night (Midnight-4:00 a.m.)/40% for 
overlapped extra fare for night/over city borders

Model Taxi Features

Model taxis are more expensive in basic fare and fare for distances and time than 
regular taxis, but they impose no extra charge for the night time, the car is bigger, 
more luxurious, and safer. They have a black body with gold lines. You can see 
them mainly around hotels or tourist attractions.

Fare Basic fare: KRW 6,500 until 3 km

Large Taxi Features

Large taxis can accommodate up to eight persons. You must be careful to see 
the difference from the Call Vans which are more expensive because they are for 
passengers with cargo. Large taxis and Call Vans are similar in their looks, but Call 
Vans have ‘Van’ or ‘Call Van’ written in their body, and do not use the meter. All large 
taxis have ‘Large’ written in their body.

Fare Basic fare: KRW 6,500 until 3 km

International Taxi

International taxis are made for foreign tourists, and their drivers are fluent in 
speaking foreign languages marked on the side surfaces such as English, Chinese, 
and Japanese. The doors have ‘International’ written on the surfaces, and the 
vehicle body is black and orange. The international taxis impose only the sectional 
fare without any other charge for toll gates or service. You can book on them, or 
just visit the desk for the international taxis in the airport. 
(Booking website) www.intltaxi.co.kr 
(Language) Korean, English, Chinese, Japanese 
(Booking phone) 1644-2255
*Credit card (Visa, Mastercard, JCB, Amex) is available.

※ Above is based on the Seoul taxi fare, and for other regions’ taxi fare, please refer to the regional taxi fare system. 
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(6) Train

Trains are divided into the KTX, SRT, Saemaeul, and Mugunghwa. The KTX and the SRT are 
faster than the Saemaeul and the Mugunghwa. But, they are more expensive. For details on 
stations and fare of each type of train, please refer to the KORAIL website (www.letskorail.com) 
and the SRT website (http://etk.srail.co.kr). You can purchase train tickets on the websites, along 
with ‘KORAIL TALK’ and ‘SRT,’ automatic ticket vendors, ticket stores, and stations (excluding 
subway stations). The time for purchasing all tickets is from 7:00 a.m. one month before the 
departure until 20 minutes before departure. However, you can purchase the tickets until before 
departure by using the applications of ‘KORAIL TALK’ and ‘SRT.’ For the refund of the tickets, 
different regulations are applied according to the time (before and after departure) and the ways 
(Internet, or station windows) which you can check out on the website.  
※ KORAIL Customer Service Center: (Korean) 1544- 7788 (English) 1599-7777 
※ SRT Customer Service Center: 1800-1472 

Required Time and Fare by Train Type    

Type
Required Time*

(Based on between Seoul 
and Busan)

Fare**
(Based on between Seoul 

and Busan)

How to Purchase 
Tickets Language

KTX Around 2 hr. 18 min.
(Regular) KRW 59,800

https://www.letskorail.com

Korean
English
Chinese

Japanese

(Special) KRW 83,700

Saemaeul Around 4 hr. 10 min.
(Regular) KRW 42,600 

(Special) KRW 49,000

Mugunghwa Around 5 hr. 20 min.
(Regular) KRW 28,600

https://etk.srail.co.kr
(Special) KRW 32,900

SRT Around 2 hr. 13 min.
(Regular) KRW 52,600

(Special) KRW 76,300

*    The time is on average, and there may occur differences in accordance with the departure time and stations the train 
stops for.

**  The fare is all based on the Direct Train, and there may be changes in the fare in accordance with the type and time zone.
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3) Useful Information on Transportation 

(1) Transfer 

Integrated Public Transportation Distance-Based Charge System (Integrated Fare)

Basic Fare

Basic fare until 10 km (transfer for free of charge)
(until 30 km for the Seoul Red Bus, Gyeonggi Seat Bus/Direct Bus, Incheon Seat 
Bus/Red Bus)
But, the higher basic fare among the used means of transportation is applied.

Additional Fare
Add KRW 100 per 5 km after 10 km is exceeded.
(after 30 km is exceeded for the Seoul Red Bus, Gyeonggi Seat Bus/Direct Bus, 
Incheon Seat Bus/Red Bus)

-   It is available only when you use the Transportation Card. (But, if you do not put the card on the 
terminal when getting off the train, there is no free transfer benefits.)

-    It is applied when you ride another means of transportation within 30 minutes after getting off from 
the previous means of transportation (but, the time is extended to be 60 minutes from 9:00 p.m. 
until 7:00 a.m. the next day).

(2) Shinbundang Line 

The DX LINE (Shinbundang Line) is operated by the private sector, so the basic fare is around 
KRW 2,250 which is around double that of other lines. If you use the Line after using other 
subway line or bus, an additional fare will be charged.
* For details, please refer to www.shinbundang.co.kr (language: Korean, English).
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(3) Express Train

Express train does not stop at all stations but 
at only some stations. It can reduce the time 
for moving. In Korea, you can ride the express 
train only on specific routes including Lines 1, 
4, and 9, Gyeongeui/Jungang Line, and Suin/
Bundang Line. There is no express train on 
Lines 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, and 8. In addition, some 
stations have different places for riding the 
train between express trains and normal trains, 
so you must check it first. Sometimes, normal 
trains arrive at a specific station before the express one, but in this case, the broadcast in the 
train notifies about the information, so you need to listen carefully.

4) Acquisition of Driver’s License 

(1) Change foreign driver’s license into Korean one

You may not drive in the Republic of Korea with only a foreign driver’s license issued in a foreign 
country. However, if you hold a driver’s license issued by a foreign agency with authority, you may 
apply for an exchange and issuance of a Korean driver’s license through the below procedure. 

 
➊ Examination of submitted documents such as the certificate of the embassy

-    If it is needed to supplement some matters insufficient during the process of examination  
of the submitted documents, the person in charge may demand the applicant to submit 
additional documents.

➋ Aptitude test (physical test) and written test

-    If you exchange your license of a country which acknowledges the license of the Republic of 
Korea with a Korean license, you can be exempted from the written test.
*    But, the written test is required for the license of Oregon and Idaho in the United States even if the country is 

a mutually acknowledged one.  

➌ Exchange and Issuance of Driver’s License of Republic of Korea
※    A foreign license is acknowledged to be valid only if it is a full license with a period of validity remaining, and a 

temporary license, learner, provisional, or probationary driver’s license, driver’s permit or certificate, or the like 

cannot be exchanged with a domestic license of the Republic of Korea. 

※    Embassy certificate or Apostille certificate for the license: Prepare the documents issued within one year from 

the date of application in order to check the authenticity of the foreign license (one of the below). 

-    A certificate issued in Korean or English by the embassy of the related country in the Republic 
of Korea or the Korean embassy in the related country 

-    A certificate issued in Korean or English in a member country of the Apostille convention (the 
local site)
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(2) Licenses To Be Exchanged and Issued 

-    Only Type 2 Normal Driver’s License in the Republic of Korea is available for being exchanged 
with a foreign license.

-    If your license is issued by a country who has concluded an agreement for mutual 
acknowledgement (Belgium, Poland, Spain, Italy) with the Republic of Korea, you can exchange 
your license with the same type of license of the Republic of Korea. 

Item Details

Place of 
Application

Driver’s license test places across the nation,
 KOTRA Foreign Investor Support Center (for only those from those countries whose license is 

acknowledged in the Republic of Korea)*

Required 
Documents

Foreigners and foreign 
citizens who are from 

those countries whose 
driver’s license is 

acknowledged in the 
Republic of Korea

- The original copy of the driver’s license in a foreign country
-    The original copy of the passport: A passport from which you can 

check the entry and exit for all the time since when you enter the 
country until you leave 

-    The original copy of the Residence Card (the original copy of the 
Domestic Address Report Certificate of Koreans with a foreign 
nationality)

- Three photographs in color taken within six months 
- The embassy’s certificate or Apostille certificate for the license
- Immigration Fact Certificate: From your year of birth up until now

Foreigners and foreign 
citizens who are 

from those countries 
whose license is not 
acknowledged in the 

Republic of Korea

-    The original copy of the driver’s license in a foreign country, the 
original copy of the passport: A passport from which you can check 
the entry and exit for all the time since when you enter the country 
until you leave

-    The original copy of the Residence Card (the original copy of the 
Domestic Address Report Certificate of Koreans with a foreign 
nationality)

-    Three photographs in color taken within six months (standard: 3.5 
X 4.5 cm)

- The embassy’s certificate or Apostille certificate for the license
- Immigration Fact Certificate: From your year of birth up until now

Commission

-    Issuance commission: KRW 8,000 (if you apply for the license in English, the commission is 
KRW 10,000), 

- Fee for written test: KRW 10,000*
*    The written test is required only for those from countries whose driver’s license is not 

acknowledged in the Republic of Korea.

* But, it can be issued only when you hold the D-8 or F-3 VISA, and you also need a physical checkup certificate.
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Countries Whose Driver’s License Is Acknowledged in the Republic of Korea 
(National Police Agency Notification No. 2021-7 as of 5 July 2021)

Region Country Name

Asia 
(31 

Countries)

Nepal, New Zealand, Taiwan, East Timor, Laos, Macao, Malaysia, Maldives, Myanmar, Vanuatu, 
Vietnam, Samoa, The Solomon Islands, Sri Lanka, Australia, Uzbekistan, India (Uttarakhand, 
Goa, Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh, Telangana, Maharashtra), Japan, Kazakhstan, Cambodia, 
Cook Islands, Republic of Kyrgyz, Kiribati, Thailand, Tonga, Turkmenistan, Papua New Guinea, 
Palau, Fiji, The Philippines, Hong Kong

America 
(19 

Countries)

Guatemala, Nicaragua, The Dominican Republic, Commonwealth of Dominica, Bahamas, Brazil, 
Saint Kitts and Nevis, Haiti, Antigua and Barbuda, Ecuador, Honduras, Uruguay, Chile, Canada 
(Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, New Brunswick, Newfoundland & Labrador, Nova Scotia, 
Ontario, Prince Edward Island, Quebeck, Saskatchewan), Costa Rica, Colombia, Panama, Peru, 
The United States (Maryland, Virginia, Washington, Massachusetts, Texas, Florida, Oregon, 
Michigan, Idaho, Alabama, West Virginia, Iowa, Colorado, Georgia, South Carolina, Arkansas, 
Tennessee, Hawaii, Pennsylvania, Wisconsin, Oklahoma, Arizona, Louisiana)

Europe 
(35 

Countries)

Greece, The Netherlands, Denmark, Germany, Latvia, Rumania, Luxemburg, Lithuania, 
Liechtenstein, Monaco, Montenegro, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Cyprus, 
Serbia, Switzerland, Spain, Slovakia, Slovenia, Ireland, The Azerbaijani Republic, Albania, The 
United Kingdom, Austria, Italy, Georgia, The Czech Republic, Croatia, Turkey, Portugal, Poland, 
France, Finland, Hungary

Middle East 
(13 

Countries)

Lebanon, Bahrain, Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates, Afghanistan, Yemen, Oman, Jordan, 
Iraq (Irbil), Iran, Israel, Qatar, Kuwait

Africa 
(38 

Countries)

Ghana, Gabon, Gambia, Guinea, Guinea Bissau, Namibia, Nigeria, Liberia, Rwanda, Libya, 
Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Morocco, Mauritius, Mauritania, Mozambique, Botswana, Burundi, 
Burkina Faso, Sao Tome and Principe, Senegal, Seychelles, Algeria, Angola, Eritrea, Kingdom 
of Eswatini, Ethiopia, Uganda, Zambia, Equatorial Guinea, Djibouti,  Zimbabwe, Cameroon, 
Comoros, Cote d’Ivoire, Democratic Republic of Congo, Tunisia
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International Driving Permit

Item Details

Place of 
Application

- Driver’s license test places and police stations across the country
-    International Driving Permit issuance center at the Incheon International Airport (Police 

Security Center on the 3rd floor of Passenger Terminal 1 of the Incheon International Airport, 
in the Government Service Center on the 2nd floor of the Passenger Terminal 2 of the 
Incheon International Airport)

-    220 local governments with agreement with the Road Traffic Authority (But, local 
governments allow you to apply for the Permit only at the same time as you apply for a 
passport. You cannot apply for only the International Driving Permit alone.)
※     When you apply for the Permit at a police station, check if the station can issue the Permit or not 

before visiting it, and then apply for it by visiting the station with your credit card or check card.

Required 
Articles

-    When the principal applies: The principal’s passport (a copy is available), Driver’s License, 
one photograph for passport taken within six months (3.5 X 4.5 cm, other photographs than 
those for passport are not qualified)

※  But, if an agent applies for it, the ID card of the agent and the letter of attorney are also required.

-    If the principal is in a foreign country, a copy of the ID card is available when submitting the 
Immigration Fact Certificate. You must know your English name on your passport.

-    Guidelines for issuance of the International Driving Permit for those with the Driver’s License 
of the Republic of Korea but with a foreign nationality
Required articles: The principal’s passport, Driver’s License, one photograph for passport taken 
within six months (3.5 X 4.5 cm, other photographs than those for passport are not qualified.)

Period of 
Validity

- One year from the date of issuance
-    If you apply for the issuance of the International Driving Permit within the period while your 

domestic driver’s license is suspended, you can get the International Driving Permit which is 
valid for one year from the day next to the end date of the period of suspension.

Commission KRW 8,500

Caution 

-    If the spell of the English name on the International Driving Permit does not equal the spell of 
the English name on the passport, or the signatures don’t match each other, you cannot have 
the validity of the International Driving Permit acknowledged.

-    The international driver’s license acknowledged in the Republic of Korea is the ‘International 
Driving Permit’ and is not the ‘International Driving License.’ You cannot drive with the latter in 
the Republic of Korea.

-    The Republic of Korea keeps the Geneva Conventions, so in principle, you can drive in 
the Republic of Korea for one year from the date of entry into the country with a valid 
international driver’s license issued by a member of the Geneva Conventions. (From January 
1, 2002, it is permitted to drive in the Republic of Korea also with a valid international driver’s 
license issued by a member of the Vienna Convention, and the period is one year from the 
date of entry in the Republic of Korea.)

(3) When the foreigner has no driver’s license

-    The procedures for a foreigner who has never held a driver’s license in his/her own country 
before to have the driver’s license newly issued in the Republic of Korea are the same as those 
for the Koreans. 

- For details, please inquire the website or customer center of the Road Traffic Authority. 
Road Traffic Authority Customer Center
Website: www.koroad.or.kr/en_web/index.do
Phone: 1577-1120
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5) Purchase, Registration, and Insurance of Car  

(1) Purchase of Car

When a foreigner purchases a car in the Republic of Korea, he/she shall submit the Residence 
Card for proving the address where he/she will use the car mainly.

(2) Car Registration 

After purchasing a car, you must apply for a new registration of the car. You can request for a new 
registration to be conducted on behalf of yourself to the manufacturer or seller of the car. If you 
do not register the car and drive the car, you will be imprisoned for two years or shorter or fined 
for KRW 5 million or below. 

Precautions for purchasing a used car 

➊    You must thoroughly check if there has been an accident or flooding, whether the 
mileage is manipulated or not, and if the car is seized or collaterally secured or not, and 
other information. 
-    Whether the car has been in an accident or has been flooded: Check the accident 

history at the Korea Insurance Development Institute (If there is an amount of one 
insurance processing of around KRW 2 million or over, you can determine that there 
has been an accident.) 

-    Whether the mileage is manipulated or not: Request for the documents such as 
car registration certificate and performance check records or the like to the seller, 
and based on the documents, check the facts in a maintenance center of each 
manufacturer or a check office introduced in the website of the Korea Transportation 
Safety Authority.

-    Whether the car is seized or collaterally secured or not: Check the car register at the 
borough office or car registration office.

➋    You must check the relations between the owner and the seller and the car tax payment 
certificate.

➌    To check if a used car is a good one, you had better strictly check the shape of the 
body, presence or absence of a disorder in the options, painting condition, various oil 
conditions and oil leak.

*Source: Yonhap News <Precautions for Purchasing Used Car and How to Identify Good Used Car>
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(3) Car Insurance

In order to own and drive a car in the Republic of Korea, you must be insured.

Insurance Companies Which Sell Car Insurance to Foreigners 

Insurer Phone Website 

AIG 1544-2792/
(English)1544-0911 https://www.aig.co.kr

MG Non-Life Insurance 1588-0303 https://direct.mggeneralins.com

KB Insurance 1544-0114 http://www.kbinsure.co.kr

Samsung Fire & Marine 
Insurance

1588-5114/
(English)1899-0010 https://www.samsungfire.com

Hyundai Marine & Fire Insurance 1588-5656 https://www.hi.co.kr

Hanhwa General Insurance 1566-8000 https://www.hwgeneralins.com
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Public·Convenience Facilities

1) Pubilc Agencies

(1) Administrative Agencies

You come to visit your local community centers and offices of your city, county, and borough 
while living your daily life. Recently, you can have official documents issued through the 
unmanned issuing machines installed in subway stations or the government’s portal site named 
Minwon24 (www.minwon.go.kr). However, you need to check first since not all documents are 
issued thereby. Minwon24 provides services in seven languages including English, Chinese, and 
Japanese. 

(2) Police Station (☎ 112) 

Poilce stations are agencies in charge of security in each region, comprising 
the head office, patrol divisions, police substations, and security centers. 
They are autonomous police agencies affiliated with the police stations in 
each city and province (called Do in Korean). 

(3) Fire Station (☎ 119)  

Fire stations protect the lives and property of Koreans from various disasters 
such as fire and other accidents. In the Republic of Korea, you can report not 
only fire but also emergency situations expected to the fire station. They also 
come for supporting the police in executing public duties such as rescuing 
someone who tries to kill himself/herself, and even remove beehives and harmful animals. In 
addition, you can also report about emergency patients to take actions. 

(4) Post Office 

Post office is an agency or company that receive, send, and transfer mail, 
which also perform financial services.

➊ Basic Charge

KRW 430 for normal post (25 g), KRW 4,000 for registered parcel (80 cm, 3 kg or lower), and 
KRW 5,000 for Post Office delivery (80 cm, 3 kg or lower)

➋ Domestic Post 

- Where: Post Offices and Postal Agencies across the nation
- Main work: Handling of mail, delivery (parcel), banking, insurance 
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- Operating hours:   (Financial Service) 9:00 a.m.-4:30 p.m. Monday through Friday 
 (Postal Service) 9:00 a.m.-6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday

- Inquiry: 1588-1300 / 02- 2108-9895
-    Zip code search: At each Post Office across the nation, Internet Post Office (http://www.

epost.go.kr) and the KOREA POST (http://www.koreapost.go.kr), and the Post Office 
application.

 
➌ International Post

-    International ordinary post, international parcel, and international express (EMS, Express 
Mail Service). In general, parcel is up to 20 kg, while EMS is up to 30 kg to be transported. 
The charge differs according to the destination and the type, standards, and weight of the 
postal matter. You can check the weight limits of each country at the Post Office or a related 
website. 

-    Charge: Inquire about the EMS charge at http://koreapost.go.kr (language: Korean, English), 
and inquire about the international ordinary mail and international parcel at the customer 
service center. 

-    EMS: An international express post for delivering urgent letters, documents, and parcels to 
a foreign country fast and safely. The nations available are increasing constantly. Currently, 
there are 143 member countries for the EMS, and other 72 countries are available for the 
EMS Premium. 

 
➍ International Transport

If you want to safely, rapidly send some articles and documents to a foreign country despite 
some higher costs, you can use an international transport company with a global network. The 
services and charge information of the international transport companies with business in the 
Republic of Korea are available as below.

Firm Name Website Phone Language

DHL Korea https://www.logistics.dhl 1588-0001

Korean, EnglishFedEx https://www.fedex.com 080-023-8000

UPS Korea https://www.ups.com/kr 1588-6886

➎ Delivery and Quick Service 

The Republic of Korea has a well-equipped delivery service which directly transfers articles to 
the recipient door to door. It is more expensive than the general postal delivery, but you can 
easily send articles through the delivery service by its door-to-door system that covers the 
whole country.



2022 Living in KOREA102

Type Delivery Service Quick Service

Reservation Reservation by phone or Internet (search on the Internet) – Visit by the delivery 
person – Delivery 

Required time (as of Seoul, 
weekends not included)

Seoul, Gyeonggi Province, and large cities: 1-2 days
Other regions: 3-4 days

Mountainous areas: Additional time required

Immediately delivered after 
the delivery person receives 

the subject.

Charge It varies according to the distance and the weight of the post.

2) Bank

Bank is a financial institution that receives deposits and provides loans. Representatively, there are 
the first financial circle and the second financial circle.
Operating hours
9:00 a.m.-4:00 p.m. (Excluding weekends and public holidays)

(1) Opening of Account  

- How to apply: Visit a branch of the bank.
Required documents: (Resident) Passport, Residence Card, seal (signature)
(Non-resident) Passport, Driver’s License, credit card, seal (signature)
*  The required documents differ according to the bank and the type of account, so you need to directly inquire 

about the matter to the bank for details.

-    NOTE: If you submit the passport or a travel certificate for identification of the applicant, you 
must write your address and contact information in the Republic of Korea, and must additionally 
submit the evidential documents for identifying yourself (your ID card in your own country, 
credit card you use in the Republic of Korea or a tax payment receipt in the Republic of Korea).

※    The issuance of an ATM card is available only when you have a workplace in the Republic of Korea or when you 

have a Korean who guarantees your identity. 
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(2) Automated Teller Machine (ATM)

- Most ATMs provide various language services on the screen.
-    Commission: The commission differs according to whether the bank of the ATM is the same as 

your bank or not, whether it is within the operating hours or not, and your purpose of using the 
machine.

-    Normal operating hours: 8:30 a.m.-6:00 p.m. on weekdays, and 8:30 a.m.-2:00 p.m. on 
Saturdays. But, the operating hours may differ according to the region and the managerial 
branch. So you need to check it first.

-    On public holidays or in other time than the operating hours of the bank, a commission for the 
time other than the operating hours is applied. (an additional cost can be incurred)

-    If you use some other bank’s card, there applied is a commission for the relevant financial 
institution.

(3) Transfer

➊ When you transfer money to an overseas country

- Transfer procedure: You can freely transfer USD 1,000 or less per case without limitations.
- How to Transfer

•    Telegraph Transfer (TT): A general method for transferring a large sum of money or in an 
emergency

•  Demand Draft (DD): Used for a small sum of money or not in an emergency.
-  Required documents: Foreign Currency Transfer Application, Residence Card.  
 Additional documents can be required in accordance with your purpose of transfer. 

-    Required information for transfer: Name, address, and phone number of the transfer applicant.   
Name, address, and phone number of the recipient. Bank name and bank address (city, province, 
country) of the recipient. Bank account number, SWIFT code, and bank code of the recipient. 

- Precautions 
• The foreign currency transfer/payment application must be prepared in English.
• The English spell of the name and the account number of the recipient must be correct.
•  The name of the bank account holder and the name of the recipient must be the same.
•    Write the name of bank, branch, and nation of the recipient on the foreign currency transfer 

application. 
• You cannot transfer money to some countries such as Myanmar, Libya, Iran, and Sudan.
 

➋ When you receive transfer from overseas

-    You must give the information to the one who will transfer money to you, including the English 
name of your bank, the address of the head office of your bank, your bank account number, 
the SWIFT Code, and your English name

-    Required documents for you to receive the money transfer: Documents for proving why you 
come to receive the money (export contracts, service contracts, etc.)

*    But, the required documents may differ according to the amount of transfer, so you must check it at your main 

bank beforehand.
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(4) Internet Banking 

➊ How to Apply

It is a financial service system for processing banking through the Internet. You can apply for it 
at each bank window, and you need to prepare your ID card (a valid ID card in the Republic of 
Korea, not a foreign passport) and your bankbook.

➋ Method of Issuing Official Certificate

-    Required things: User ID (your ID determined by your application form for the Internet 
banking), account number, password, Resident Registration No. (Foreigner Registration No.), 
account transfer password, security card or OTP, portable storage devices
•    Access the bank website, enter the Official Certificate Center, and press the [Issue Official 

Certificate] or [Newly Issue Official Certificate].
•    Agree to the terms and conditions, and enter your account password or the like required as 

guided.
•    Set the password for the Official Certificate with no relation to your personal information for 

security. It is safer to store the Official Certificate in the USB memory stick rather than in 
the hard disc driver. 

(5) Status of Branch of Foreign Banks in Republic of Korea

Country Bank Name Country Bank Name

The U.S.

Canada

- J.P. Morgan Chase
- Bank of America
- Bank of New York Mellon
- State Street Bank
- Wells Fargom
- Northern Trust Company

China

- Bank of China
-    Industrial and Commercial Bank of 

China
- China Construction Bank
- Bank of Communications
- Agricultural Bank of China
- China Everbright Bank

Pakistan - State Bank of Pakistan

France

-    Credit Agricole Corporate and 
Investment Bank

- BNP Paribas Bank
- UBAF Bank
- Societe Generale Bank

Japan

- MUFG Bank
- Mizuho Bank
-    Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 

Corporation
- Yamaguchi Bank Busan Branch

The 
Netherlands - ING Bank The Philippines - Metro Bank

India - State Bank of India The U.K. - Hong Kong Shanghai Bank
- Morgan Stanley Bank 

Australia -  Australia and New Zealand 
Banking Group Switzerland - Credit Suisse Bank

Indonesia - Bank Negara Indonesia Iran - Bank Mellat

Germany - Deutsche Bank
- Land Baden-Württemberg Bank Singapore

- DBS Bank
- United Overseas Bank
-    Oversea-Chinese Banking 

Corporation Limited
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Cards in the Republic of Korea (Refer to Financial Guidebook by Financial Supervisory Service)

➊ Types of Cards

Category Credit card Check card Debit card Prepaid card

Member 
stores

Credit card member 
stores

Credit card 
member stores

Debit card member 
stores

Credit card 
member stores

Limit of use Amount of limit of 
credit Balance of deposit Balance of deposit Balance of deposit

Payment
Determined date of 

payment each month 
after purchase

Simultaneously 
with the purchase

Simultaneously 
with the purchase

Simultaneously 
with the purchase

Installment 
purchase Available Not available Not available Not available

Cash service Available Not available Not available Not available

Characteristics

-    Can be issued 
after reviewing 
various conditions 
such as the status 
for residing in 
Korea, workplace, 
properties, financial 
transaction results, 
etc.

-    Review of various 
additional services

-    Annual membership 
charge required

-    Check card is 
used often in 
Korea since 
there are many 
member stores 
as those of 
credit card.

-    Can be issued 
together with 
the bankbook if 
you apply for it 
when making a 
new bankbook.

-    Very safe since 
it is approved 
after entering the 
password.

-    There are very 
few member 
stores for using 
the card in Korea.

-    Charge the card 
for the needed 
amount and use 
it.

-    Transportation 
card, phone 
booth card, etc.

➋ Card Company Customer Service Center

Firm Name
Customer Service Center Phone Number

Customer Consultation Report of Loss of Card

Lotte Card 1588-8100/(English)1899-8100 1588-8300

BC Card 1588-4000 1588-4515

Samsung Card 1588-8700/(English)1688-8751 1588-8900

Shinhan Card 1544-7000/(English)1544-7333 1544-7200

Citi Card 1566-1000

NH Card 1644-4000

Woori Card 1588-9955/(English)02-2169-5900

KB Card 1588-1688/(English/Chinese)1644-9993

Hana Card 1800-1111/(English)1544-3500

Hyundai Card 1577-6000 1577-6200
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Bus

Minwon24

Map

Transport  
Card

Subway

Taxi

Car  
Insurance

Bank

Navigation

#
Application 
Search 
Keyword QR

App Store (iOS)

App Store (iOS)

Google Play (Android)

Google Play (Android)
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                L i v i n g  i n  K O R E A  2 0 2 2

When you travel abroad, you cannot skip sightseeing and shopping 
for sure. These days, the whole world is concentrating their 
attention on Korea thanks to the impacts of K-Culture. In general, 
Seoul, the capital of Korea, is the most famous. However, there are 
also many other very attractive tourist destinations in the country, 
with their own unique features. While you’re traveling in Korea, you 
can feel much more fun than just K-Culture! 

In addition, what to eat is important during a trip. All around Korea, 
you can taste famous foods for each region. Korea has a much 
developed food culture so that there is even the word ‘Epicureanism 
travel.’ While you’re visiting various places in Korea, try different 
foods as well! 

If you need anything during travel, you can get it easily at large 
supermarkets or convenience stores. On top of that, there are also 
other shopping places for you to purchase brand products, such as 
department stores and outlets. Experiencing the shopping culture 
in the Republic of Korea is one of the essentials for your trip!

We hope that you’re going to feel the true attraction in Korea 
through delicious foods and experiences at tourist destinations 
where you can undergo the traditional culture of Korea as well.
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Tourism and Food

In 2019, foreign tourists who visited the Republic of Korea reached around 17.5 million persons, up 
14% from the previous year. Many tourists acknowledge that South Korea is an attractive destination. 
Thanks to the Korean wave continuing for many years, many are visiting the country from the 
Western part of the world as well as from Asia. In addition, other cities than Seoul are showing their 
own unique features, making the whole nation of Korea attract attention from all over the world as a 
fascinating place to visit since the country is fully equipped with cities, nature, and history.  

1)  Capital area: Seoul, Gyeonggi-do, Incheon, Gangwon-do 

(1) Seoul 

Seoul is the capital city of the Republic of Korea, serving as the center of politics, economy, culture, 
and history. The city of Seoul occupies only 0.6% of the whole land area of the country, but its 
population is around 9.54 million persons (as of September 2021) with a very high population 
density. Seoul has settled as the center of economy and culture in Asia, boasting a fast growth. 

http://english.visitseoul.net

Travel Info

Maps & Guidebooks

2019 Seoul Official Tourist Guide
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(2) Gyeonggi-do

Gyeonggi-do is located in the western part of the center of the Korean Peninsula, with Seoul in 
its central part and Incheon in its western part. The Province includes the greatest population 
among the nine provinces of the nation, which is around 13.54 million persons (as of December 
2020). Since the subway connected to Seoul, passes through the Gyeonggi Province, it has 
merits that it is convenient to move between the city and the Province. 

https://en.ggtour.or.kr

Required information

Guidebooks

Travel Planner’s Guide

(3) Incheon

Incheon is a port city, having the Incheon International Airport for serving as an important traffic 
hub connecting Korea to the whole world. Recently, the GTX (the Great Train Express for the 
metropolitan area) has been finally determined to be opened, thereby reducing the timely 
distance between Seoul and Incheon with a growing possibility to develop even more.

http://eng-itour.incheon.go.kr

Tour Guide

Tourist Map

Incheon Tourist Guidebook
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(4) Gangwon-do

Most parts of Gangwon Province have mountains, and the Province is near the ocean and a 
beautiful natural environment. Therefore, many tourists mainly visit for tourism for nature or rest. 

http://www.gangwon.to/en

Menu

Tourism News

Download Gangwon tourist guide (map)

e-Brochure

Representative Foods in Each Region

Region Food Name Characteristics

Jangchung-dong, 
Seoul

Jokbal 
(Pigs’ Feet)

A dish made of boiled feet of pigs in seasonings. Its texture 
is very different from other parts of pork, so you can feel its 
unique taste.

Sindang-dong, 
Seoul

Tteokbokki 
(Stir-fried Rice Cake)

Rice cakes cut into a bite size and boiled in seasonings with 
various vegetables. It has different levels of hot tastes.

Euijeongbu, 
Gyeonggi Province

Budaejjigae 
(Sausage Stew)

A food made by boiling ham, sausage, and various 
vegetables with hot and spicy seasonings.

Icheon, 
Gyeonggi Province

Ssalbap Jeongsik 
(Set Menu with 
Steamed Rice)

Icheon is a famous city for tasty rice, so the Ssalbap 
Jeongsik with rice and different side dishes is well-known.

Incheon Sinpo 
International Market

Dak Gangjeong 
(Sweet and Sour Chicken) A food made by frying chicken and adding sauce.

Soraepogu Port, 
Incheon

Daeha Gui 
(Grilled Jumbo Shrimp) A grilled dish with Daeha (jumbo shimps) on coarse salt.

Chuncheon, 
Gangwon-do

Dak-galbi (Spicy 
Stir-fried Chicken)

A food made by stir-frying chicken marinated with soy 
sauce or red pepper paste along with diverse vegetables.

Sokcho, 
Gangwon-do

Ojingeo Sundae 
(Stuffed Squid)

A famous food of Sokcho, which is steamed squid filled with 
various ingredients.
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2)    Central area:  Chungcheongbuk-do, Chungcheongnam-do, Daejeon,    
 Sejong 

(1) Chungcheongbuk-do 

Chungcheongbuk-do is the only inland region with no part in contact with the seas in the 
Republic of Korea. Accordingly, it has fewer marine products but active production of agricultural 
products such as rice, jujube, chili, apples, and grapes famous as specialties.

http://tour.chungbuk.go.kr/home_en

Traveling Chungcheongbuk-do

E-Book

Chungbuk Travel Go

(2) Chungcheongnam-do

Chungcheongnam-do has convenient transportation network easily connected to any region in 
the Republic of Korea. It holds various festivals based on culture and local specialties over all the 
four seasons, and you can make good experiences and memory here with your family and friends 
and loved ones just by searching for some information on the festivals.  

http://tour.chungnam.go.kr/html/en

(3) Daejeon

Daejeon is the largest science and technology city in the Republic of Korea, having Daedeok 
Science Complex, International Science Business Belt, etc. The city is holding ‘Year of Daejeon 
Visit’ from 2019 until 2021 for you to get to know about and enjoy the city of Daejeon. However, 
because of the COVID-19, the offline events couldn’t be held for two years from 2019, so the 
festivals such as the ‘Saturday Festival’ were turned into online events and PR activities have 
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been performed online for the sights and enjoyment at such events. Also from here on, you can 
have a meaningful travel to this city of Daejeon if you enjoy the tourist attractions, festivals, and 
foods of the city in this period. 

https://www.daejeon.go.kr/toe/index.do

Tourist Guide

Culture and Tour Guide

(4) Sejong

Sejong is an administrative complex city with several central administrative agencies and 
national research institutes. There are so many public servants and researchers working for such 
institutions, the city has ranked first in the ratio of employees with a high academic background 
in the first half of 2019. It is located in the center of the land of the Republic of Korea, being easily 
accessible from anywhere in the country thanks to its broad-range transportation network.

https://sejong.go.kr/eng.do

Travel Information

Tourist Map of Sejong

Download Tourist Map

Representative Food in Each Region

Region Food Name Characteristics

Jecheon, 
Chungcheongbuk-do

Red Oden 
(Spicy Fish Cake)

Unlike the normal fish cake broth, which is transparent, the 
Red Oden is deeply marinated thanks to red, thick broth.

Cheonan, 
Chungcheongnam-do

Hodugwaja (Small 
Walnut-flavored Cake)

Cakes with walnuts and adzuki beans in wheat dough, 
having a bread-like texture.

Daejeon Kalguksu 
(Chopped Noodles)

In Daejeon, every street has a Kalguksu restaurant. Especially, its 
‘Spicy Kalguksu’ with hot broth is very famous.

Sejong Megi Tang
(Catfish Soup)

A food made by boiling catfish called ‘Megi’ in Korean 
with various vegetables such as water parsley along with 
soybean paste
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3)  Southwest area: Jeollabuk-do, Jeollanam-do, Gwangju, Jeju Special 

(1) Jeollabuk-do

Jeollabuk-do is the representative granary in the Republic of Korea, with a huge ratio of rice 
paddies producing the largest volume of rice in the country. In addition, the province holds many 
festivals reflecting its regional features and culture and history. One of the most famous things 
here is the food culture. People in the province are said to feel unsatisfied when they have meals 
in other regions, so you can feel the development of the food culture in the region. 

http://tour.jb.go.kr  | ENG |

Travel Guide

Tourist map/handbook

(2) Jeollanam-do

Jeollanam-do is another representative granary with broad plain in the Republic of Korea along 
with North Jeolla Province. It produces the largest volume of rice in the country, also together 
with the North Jeolla Province. In addition, it also has famous food culture. Suncheon City is 
famous for its nature with the greatest natural ecosystem in its Suncheonman Bay which includes 
various living organisms, thereby representing the eco-cities in the Republic of Korea. The 
Suncheonman National Garden formed for protecting the Suncheonman Bay has 790 thousand 
trees of 505 species and 3.15 million flowers of 113 species planted on the land of 1.12 million ㎡ 
(340 thousand pyeong).

 

https://www.namdokorea.com/tour_eng/index.do
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(3) Gwangju

Gwangju is in the southwestern part of the Republic of Korea. The city holds Gwangju Biennale 
every two years, and is also serving as the central city for culture by opening Gwangju World 
Tourism EXPO, World Championship for Swimming, etc. In addition, the city of Gwangju has a 
great historical significance since there have been occurred many historic events such as the 
Gwangju Student Independence Movement and the Gwangju Democratization Movement.

https://tour.gwangju.go.kr/eng/main.cs

(4) Jeju

Jeju is an island in the southwestern part of the Republic of Korea, which is the largest with the 
greatest population among Korean islands. It has around 500 thousand persons of population (as 
of September 2021). Thanks to its beautiful topography and scenery such as Oreums (volcanic 
cones), columnar joints, lava caves, etc., the island is a steady tourist attraction and resting 
place popular among Koreans. Accordingly, Jejudo Island has a considerably advanced tourism 
industry including several beaches, Udo island, and Cheonjeyeon Waterfalls as well as various 
theme parks.
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www.visitjeju.net/en/

Travel Info

Documentation

Representative Food in Each Region

Region Food Name Characteristics

Jeonju, 
Jeollabuk-do

Bibimbap 
(Boiled Rice with Meat 

and Vegetables)

Various vegetables, meat, rice, and red pepper paste mixed. 
Bibimbap is popular across the country, but Jeonju’s Bibimbap 
is especially famous.

Mokpo, 
Jeollanam-do

Sebal Nakji, San Nakji 
(Thin-Legged Octopus)

Its legs are thinner than most Nakji (long-legged octopus), 
so it is called ‘thin-legged octopus.’ Mainly it is eaten raw in 
sesame oil or red pepper paste. 

Beolgyo, 
Jeollanam-do

Kkomak Muchim 
(Seasoned Cockle)

Boiled cockles with special sauce. Beolgyo cockles are 
particularly popular.

Songjeong, 
Gwangju

Tteok-galbi 
(Grilled Short Rib Patties)

A dish made by chopping, gathering, and grilling beef along 
with special seasoning. It is super-tasty that even it is called a 
food for the king.

Jeju Heukdwaeji Gui 
(Grilled Black Pork)

Black pig is famous in Jeju. Its meat is less oily but soft, so it is 
very famous. 
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4)  Southeastern area:   Gyeongsangbuk-do, Gyeongsangnam-do, Busan, 
Daegu, Ulsan 

(1) Gyeongsangbuk-do 

Gyeongsangbuk-do has the greatest area among the local governments in the Republic of Korea. 
The province has industrial complexes for large companies and various electronic industrial 
complexes, which contribute for the local economy. In addition, it has Gyeongju, a historic city 
which is said to be a whole unit of global cultural heritage, so you had better visit the city if you 
want to learn about the history of ancient Korea.  

http://tour.gb.go.kr/main.do  | ENG |

More Information

Maps/Guidebooks

(2) Gyeongsangnam-do

Gyeongsangnam-do includes around 480 islands occupying around 1.2% of the total area 
of the province. The province has a highly developed shipbuilding industry which is one of 
the representative industries of the Republic of Korea. In addition, Hapcheon in the province 
possesses the Haeinsa Temple Janggyeong Panjeon (the Depositories for the Tripitaka Koreana 
woodblocks), which is registered as a world cultural heritage, with an enormous significance in 
historical terms. 

https://tour.gyeongnam.go.kr/tour_eng/index.gyeong

Tour assistant

Tour brochure
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(3) Busan

Busan is the largest port city in the Republic of Korea, which has the largest international trade 
port as well as the greatest population among the metropolitan cities in the country. Busan is 
also the second largest city in South Korea. The marine trade and logistics industries of Korea 
have developed with special emphasis on the Busan Port. In addition, it is promoting its regional 
cultural content through various festivals including the Busan International Film Festival and the 
Busan International Motor Show, which are in a great scale.

https://www.visitbusan.net/en/index.do

(4) Daegu

Daegu is an inland city and one of the cities with the highest temperatures in the Republic of 
Korea. It provides various themes of city tours for foreigners who visit Daegu with the ‘Daegu City 
Tour.’ They provide tours for different days and hours in accordance with the theme, and you can 
see the details from the below websites.

https://tour.daegu.go.kr/eng/index.do

Daegu Tour

Traffic, Map Guide

Tourist Map
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(5) Ulsan

Ulsan is on the southeastern coastal area with large corporations and head offices and 
automobile, shipbuilding, and petrochemistry industries developed. The city has the largest area 
among metropolitan cities, but has the smallest population. In addition, its Taehwagang National 
Garden is designated to be the second national garden in the Republic of Korea, changing into an 
environmentally friendly ecological park with the nature and the human beings coexisting. There 
are expectations for the regional development based on that. 

http://tour.ulsan.go.kr/eng

Tourist Information

Ulsan City Tour

Ulsan City Tour Guide Book

Representative Food in Each Region

Region Food Name Characteristics
Andong, 

Gyeongsangbuk-do
Jjim Dak (Braised Spicy 

Chicken with Vegetables)
A dish made by boiling chicken, various vegetables, and 
soy sauce or red pepper paste seasonings together.

Gyeongju, 
Gyeongsangbuk-do

Hwangnam Ppang 
(Gyeongju Bread)

A traditional food of Gyeongju made by baking wheat 
dough with adzuki beans.

Tongyeong, South 
Gyeongsang Province

Chungmu Gimbap 
(Chungmu-style Gimbap)

A very famous food in Tongyeong. There is even a 
street full of restaurants that sell this food. You can 
enjoy seasoned squid, kimchi, and dried radish along 
with boiled rice wrapped with dried seaweed.

Busan Dwaeji-gukbap 
(Pork and Rice Soup)

A soup made by boiling broth of pork bones and pork 
meat, to which boiled rice is added mostly.

Daegu Ttarogukbap 
(Rice and Soup)

Unlike normal rice and soup, this one does not put rice 
in the soup. This is made by boiling seasoned meat and 
various vegetables.

Ulsan Eonyang Bulgogi (Eonyang-
style barbecued beef) A type of beef chopped and marinated and grilled.



121   Tourism, Food, and Shopping

Tourism, Food, and Shopping

Shopping

1) Types of Shopping Places in Republic of Korea

Want to know shopping information in Korea

Access the ‘Visit Korea’ website of the Korea Tourism Organization, select desired language, 
and select [Shopping] and [Where to Shop], and check the details of various shopping 
places in Korea including their address, website, and phone number. You can choose 
anywhere you can shop which is near you and meet your needs.
* Website: http://www.visitkorea.or.kr
* Language: 14 languages including English, Japanese, and Chinese

(1) Traditional Markets

Traditional markets provide fun for looking around the markets and feel the unique emotional 
affection called ‘Jeong’ of Koreans with the old atmosphere of the traditional Korean society. 
You can purchase various items such as food, clothing, and other products. Traditional markets 
are divided into permanent ones, which open every day, and five-day markets and seven-day-
markets which open only on specific days. Many of the traditional markets sell only specific items 
such as marine products, agricultural products, fruits and vegetables, and medicinal herbs. The 
merits of traditional markets are that you can negotiate for price of products. In addition, when 
the market closes, they sell some unsold products at almost half the normal price, so you can buy 
things at a low cost. 

(2) Large Discount Stores 

Large discount stores carry various things you need. They have different operating schedules in 
accordance with their location, but in general most such stores in Seoul closes every second and 
fourth Sunday. Large discount stores have discount and promotion events almost each and every 
day, so you can save much time and money. However, they have a large area and a large number 
of customers, you need to take a lot of time to pay the price, so if you want just one or two items, 
it would be inefficient to go to such large discount stores.

(3) Department Stores

Department stores in the Republic of Korea have all sorts of products including luxury foreign 
fashion items and daily supplies and excellent customer services. Most of them provide foreign 
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language services in English, Japanese, and Chinese for foreigners’ convenience. Korean 
department stores have food sections mostly underground, and you can buy half-cooked foods 
or fully cooked ones at a 50-70 percent discount every evening around 6:00 to 7:00 p.m. 

(4) Outlet Stores

Republic of Korea has a various types of outlet stores. The outlet stores mean shopping places 
where they sell mostly last-season brand clothing at a discount. Accordingly, their price is lower 
than the normal price of brands, and if you visit them at a specific period, you can get things 
at a much lower price. Therefore, many people visit outlet stores when they want to purchase 
expensive products at a low cost. In addition, as outlet stores develop into spaces with unique 
themes, not just a shopping site, more and more people visit them with family and friends. 

(5) Convenience Stores

You can buy things at convenience stores 24 hours a day, including convenient food and other 
simple things. They have different types of products in accordance with their size, but most of 
the stores are small so you can find the products you need very easily. 

(6) Supermarkets

Supermarkets are diverse in the types in accordance with their size. However, most of them are in 
a size of a general stores, and most are those established before large discount stores emerged in 
the country. They are mainly in an apartment complex or in a neighborhood for the local residents. 
They have different types and sizes of products, with discounts or not as the owner wishes. 

(7) TV Home Shopping

TV home shopping deals with a broad range of products such as clothing, food, cosmetics, home 
appliances, insurance, automobiles, and tour products, and is convenient since you can purchase 
products by phone while watching TV at home. You can get a discount if you order a product 
by an ARS service, and many of the products are provided along with various gifts. Mostly, the 
products are delivered within one to three days, and if you are not satisfied with the product, you 
can return the product and get your money back within a few days even if you used a credit card 
for the payment.
If you buy a product by using the home shopping’s own application, you can additionally get 
mileage or discount. 

(8) Internet Shopping

By Internet shopping, you can conveniently buy things just by clicking your mouse, and the price 
is much lower. Many online shopping malls carry various products in one website like department 
stores, while some others carry only specific items such as food, clothing, and books. Sometimes, 
the products are different from what they look like on the Internet, so you need to strictly check 
the specifics of the products before you order any product.
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Tourism, Food, and Shopping

Famous Restaurants in Korea 

If you want to know the famous restaurants that Koreans love to go, there are various ways to do so. 
First, you can use diverse applications. You can download many different applications through the 
Google Play Store or the App Store on your smartphone, thereby being recommended to various 
restaurants for each region and food. 
Second, you can watch diverse TV shows. In Korea, there are many great shows that introduce 
famous restaurants and even visit them and evaluate the foods. 
Last but not least, you can search on the SNS. If you search famous restaurants on blogs, Facebook, 
and Instagram, you can view reviews of many people (thousands or hundreds of thousands of 
people) on famous restaurants. 

Michelin Guide Seoul

Michelin Guide Seoul has selected 169 restaurants in 2022, including various dishes from 
China, France, Italy, and Japa as well as Korea. Access the Michelin Guide Seoul website, 
then you can check out the details of various restaurants for each type of food and location. 
If you want to visit special Korean restaurants, it would be a great memory to visit those 
selected by Michelin Guide Seoul.

Website: https://guide.michelin.com/kr/ko
Language: Many languages including Korean, English, Japanese, and Chinese



2022 Living in KOREA124

Travel in  
Korea

Internet  
Shopping

Food  
Delivery

#
Application 
Search 
Keyword QR

App Store (iOS) Google Play (Android)
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Appendix

Get-Together

1) YMCA 

The YMCA (Young Men’s Christian Association) is a global Christian movement group which was 
founded in London, the U.K. in 1844. Currently, it has over 10 thousand branches in around 120 
countries across the world.
The YMCA in the Republic of Korea was initially founded as ‘Hwangseong Christian Youth Society’ 
founded by the young Koreans who were proponents of the enlightenment movement and American 
missionaries on 28 October 1903 in the Late Period of Joseon. The members of the YMCA were 
inspired by the modern social reform consciousness and put their hearts into vocational training, rural 
villages movements, and Christian human right movements. YMCA also offered their labor into physical 
education, and initially brought baseball to Korea in 1905. Next, they introduced basketball in 1907 and 
skate (1908). In addition, they performed movements for independence from the Japanese colonial 
rule and self-sustainable economic movements including the opening of rural lecture classes along 
with independence movement from the Japanese colonial rule. Currently, the YMCA in Korea displays 
various activities but especially promotes diverse businesses for teenagers and citizen movements 
including education and culture for the adolescents. The YMCA Seoul has grown into an organization 
with 50 thousand members, 15 branches, and 250 regular employees. (Source: DAUM Enciclopedia) 
 
YMCA Seoul

•Address: 69 Jong-ro, Jongno-gu, Seoul 
•Phone: 02-730-9391 
•Website: https://www.seoulymca.or.kr/ 
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2) Rotary Club 

The Rotary Club, which is a volunteer activities group made of 1.2 million volunteers from all over 
the world, promotes various activities for the global community and local communities around the 
world. More specifically, it contributes to the enhancement of understanding and peace in the world 
through humanitarian activities. Its especially main purposes are to practice high ethical standards, to 
improve literacy, to eradicate diseases, to reduce famine and poverty, and to provide clean drinking 
water. 
Currently, it has around 1.2 million members in 35,000 clubs around the world. Currently, the 
membership fee is USD 53, and around 4-14% of the individual membership fee is paid to the 
International Rotary. The rest of the membership fee is used for operating the Club and the branches, 
and for providing food and magazines. 
The Rotary movement is also active in the Republic of Korea with 1,341 clubs and 54,529 members, 
being acknowledged as a powerhouse for Rotary in the international community. The chairman for 
the International Rotary Club in 2008 and 2009 was Korean. (Source: DAUM Enciclopedia)
 
Rotary Korea

•Address: No. 930 Royal Bldg. Saemunanro5-gil, Jongno-gu, Seoul 
•Phone: 02-738-1501 
•Website: http://rotarykorea.org/
 

3) Lions Club 

Lions Clubs International is an international social volunteer group founded by the proposal of Melvin 
Jones from America on 7 June 1917 for improving the spirit of generous understanding between 
all people on the globe, enhancing the ethical views of nations and citizenships, and actively 
working for welfare of local communities. Since its foundation, it has displayed various activities 
such as educational volunteer work, environment protection, public good activities, and health care. 
Especially, they have made efforts to support the welfare of those with visual impairment and hearing 
disorder. 
It has around 45 thousand clubs in 205 countries, along with around 1.3 million members. They have 
88 clubs only in Seoul as of now. They classify their members into regular, free, honorary, preferred, 
lifelong, semi, and sponsor ones. Their member fees and status differ according to the categories, so 
you can just refer to the website below for more accurate information.  (Source: DAUM Enciclopedia) 
 
Lions Club 354-C 

• Address: 3rd Fl. Lions Club Hall, 455, Cheonho-daero, Dongdaemun-gu, Seoul  
•Phone: 02-2242-6427 
•Website: http://lions354c.com
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Want to know get-together in your own country?

If you want to subscribe for any group with special purposes other than the above or a 
community for your own motherland, you can visit ‘Korea4expats.com’ which provides get-
togethers and gatherings in accordance with nationality, purposes, and interest.

- Website: https://korea4expats.com/ 
- Language: English
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Appendix

About KOTRA

The Korea Trade-Investment Promotion Agency (KOTRA) is a government-funded agency (semi-
government agency) founded in 1962 for supporting export and trade promotion, investment and 
industrial technology cooperation between Korean and foreign companies, and support for such 
efforts, thereby contributing to the national economy development of the Republic of Korea. The 
head office is located in Seocho-gu, Seoul, and the company is often called ‘KOTRA.’ 
KOTRA is currently using its 127 global networks covering 10 regions and 84 countries, thereby 
helping SMEs and companies of middle standing make inroads into the overseas markets and create 
jobs in the global community. Recently, in order to actively respond to the environmental changes 
in both Korea and outside the country such as spread of new protectionism and intensified global 
competition, KOTRA has selected four key tasks including the entry of SMEs and enterprises of 
middle standing into the overseas markets, creation of jobs in the global community, diversification of 
export markets and items, and discovery of opportunities for multi-faceted economic collaborations, 
displaying activities for carrying forward such endeavor. 

1) KOTRA Oragnizational Chart

Head Office Organization: 6 Headquarters, 32 Divisions, 5 Centers

Korea Defense Industry 
Trade Support Center

Office of the President

Public Relations Division

Auditor’s 
Office

Board of 
Directors Auditor

Foreign Investor Aftercare Office

Office of the Foreign Investment 
Ombudsman

Management 
Support 

Headquarters

SME & Middle-
Standing 
Enterprise 

Headquarters

Innovation 
& Growth 

Headquarters

Economy 
& Trade 

Cooperation 
Headquarters

Trade 
Investment 

Data 
Headquarters

Invest Korea

Foreign 
Investor 
Support 
Center

President

Corporate Social Value 
Office 
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Domestic Support Groups: 12 Groups, 2 Offices

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, BUSAN

12 Domestic KOTRA Support Centers

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, DAEGU-GYEONGBUK

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, GWANGJU‐JEONNAM

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, GYEONGGI

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, INCHEON

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, DAEJEON-SEJONG‐CHUNGNAM

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, GANGWON

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, CHUNGBUK

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, JEONBUK

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, GYEONGNAM

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, ULSAN

KOTRA SUPPORT CENTER, NORTHERN GYEONGGI

Overseas Trade Offices: 10 Local Headquarters, 127 Trade Offices in 84 Countries

Europe 
23

Middle East
15

CIS
10 China 

21

Japan 
4

Southwest 
Asia
9

Southeast 
Asia
15

North America
9

Latin America
12

Africa 
9
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2) Main Business and Services of KOTRA 

Export support

If your products are excellent but you have no way to let them known?
We support and assist you from starting export to settling in the overseas markets.

Overseas market information

You want to know about overseas market and trade information?
We provide optimal information through our smart information system based on 
digital technology.

Global Job Creation 

Want to get a job or make a business overseas?
Or to work for a foreign-invested company? We provide global job offers by 
discovering demands for talents and opportunities for jobs and business.

Economic and Trade Cooperation

Want to make a change to make inroads into emerging markets?
We operate private-public cooperation platforms by connecting government policies 
such as new northern or southern policies, thereby pushing ahead with diversified 
economic cooperation.

Investment Support

Wish to increase your global competitive edge by attracting foreign investment?
We assist you for the whole process of attracting, obtaining, and supporting foreign 
investment even until the after-investment process. Want to enter a larger market 
by overseas investment? We provide customized support for you on investment 
environment research through foundation of corporations and successful settlement.
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3) Foreign Investor Support Center (FISC) 

The KOTRA Foreign Investment Support Center (FISC) provides dispatch cooperation offices 
connecting the central and local governments and related agencies, along with investment 
consultation with professionals at KOTRA, and supports for business operation, adminisrative 
procedures, and daily lives of foreign investors and workers. 

Foreigner Investment Consultation
•Investment procedure: Foreigner investment notification / registration
•Location: Customized location consultation
•Taxes and accounting: Consultation on taxes and incentives
• Labor affairs: Labor-management relations / employment support system consultation
•Laws: Guidelines for corporation establishment procedures / Legal consultation
• Customs and national taxes: Issuance of investment in kind confirmation / Business 

operator registration and report

Administrative support
•Visa: Issuance / renewal / change of Visa
•Driver’s license: Exchange into Korean driver’s license
•Investment system: Improvement of investment circumstances and systems
• Local desk: Location and incentive consultation for each local community / Provision 

of local information

Life Assistance
•Daily life: Daily life consultation / on-site service

Ministry of Industry, Trade and Energy
Ministry of Environment
Ministry of Employment and Labor
Ministry of Government Legislation
National Tax Service
Korea Customs Service

Central Government Departments and Agencies 

Local governments

Specialists in each field

Related agencies

Legal affairs

Taxes

Labor affairs
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Appendix

Directory

1) KOTRA Overseas Network
Region City Phone Website

Southeast 
Asia & 

Oceania

Aukland 64-9-373-5792 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/auckland

Bangkok 66-2-035-1555 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/bangkok

Danang 84-236-377-9700 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/danang

Hanoi 84-24-3946-0511 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/hanoi

Ho Chi Minh 84-28-3822-3944 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/hochiminh

Jakarta 62-21-574-1522 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/jakarta

Kuala Lumpur 60-3-2117-7100 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/kualalumpur

Manila 63-2-8894-4084 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/manila

Melburne 61-3-9860-0500 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/melbourne

Phnom Penh 855-23-999-099 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/phnompenh

Singapore 65-6426-7200 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/singapore

Surabaya 62-31-9921-0211 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/surabaya

Sydney 61-2-9264-5199 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/sydney

Vientiane 856-21-455-080 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/vientiane

Yangon 95-1-9253346~50 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/yangon

Southwest 
Asia

Ahmedabad 91-79-49130-111 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/AHMEDABAD

Bengaluru 91-80-6809-9200 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/bengaluru

Chennai 91-44-2499-7283 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/chennai

Colombo 94-11-2597495 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/colombo

Dhaka 880-2-5881-3153 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/dhaka

Karachi 92-21-3530-3771~3777 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/karachi

Kolkata 91-33-4055-8150 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/kolkata

Mumbai 91-22-4925-5400 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/mumbai

New Delhi 91-11-4230-6300 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/newdelhi

Japan

Fukuoka 81-92-473-2005 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/fukuoka

Nagoya 81-52-561-3936 https://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/nagoya

Osaka 81-6-6262-3831 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/osaka

Tokyo 81-3-3214-6951 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/tokyo

China
Beijing 86-10-6410-6162 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/beijing

Dailan 86-411-8253-0051~3 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/dalian
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Region City Phone Website

China

Guangzhou 86-20-2208-1600 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/guangzhou

Nanjing 86-025-8328-8991 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/nanjing

Shanghai 86-21-5108-8771~2 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/shanghai

Shenyang 86-24-3137-0770 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/shenyang

Xiamen 86-592-210-3190~2 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/xiamen

Changchun 86-431-8051-9850 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/changchun

Changsha 86-0731-8564-0080 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/changsha

Chengdu 86-28-8672-3501~6 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/chengdu

Chongqing 86-23-6039-1005 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/chongqing

Hangzhou 86-571-8110-3099 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/hangzhou

Harbin 86-451-5110-7080 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/harbin

Hong Kong 852-2545-9500 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/hongkong

Qingdao 86-532-8388-7931 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/qingdao

Shenzhen 86-755-8335-9991 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/shenzhen

Taipei 886-2-2725-2324 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/taipei

Tianjin 86-22-2329-6631~3 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/tianjin

Wuhan 86-27-5930-9299 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/wuhan

Xian 86-29-8883-1060 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/xian

Zhengzhou 86-371-8616-3927~200 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/zhengzhou

North 
America

Chicago 1-312-644-4323 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/chicago

Dallas 1-972-243-9300 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/dallas

Detroit 1-248-619-1601 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/detroit

Los Angeles 1-323-954-9500 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/losangeles

New York 1-212-826-0900 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/newyork

Silicon Valley 1-408-432-5000 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/siliconvalley

Toronto 1-416-368-3399 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/toronto

Vancouver 1-604-683-1820, 687-7322 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/vancouver

Washington D.C. 1-202-857-7919 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/washingtond

Central 
and South 
America

Asuncion 595-21-238-1699,
328-7111, 660-100 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/asuncion

Bogota 57-1-637-5099 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/bogota

Buenos Aires 54-11-4312-0033 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/buenosaires

Guatemala 502-2298-0000 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/guatemala

Havana 53-7-204-1020 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/havana

Lima 51-1-442-9595 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/lima

Mexico City 52-55-5514-3173, 3174 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/mexico%20city

Panama 507-264-8105 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/panama

Quito 593-2-2237-111 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/quito
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Region City Phone Website

Central 
and South 
America

San Tiago 56-2-3221-0710 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/santiago

Santo Domingo 1-809-567-9733 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/santodomingo

Sao Paulo 55-11-3175-3030 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/saopaulo

Europe
London 44-20-7520-5300 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/london

Madrid 34-91-556-6241 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/madrid

Europe

Amsterdam 31-20-673-0555 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/amsterdam

Athens 30-210-645-3623~4 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/athens

Beograd 381-11-311-0860 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/beograd

Bratislava 421-2-2129-34-50 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/bratislava

Brussels 32-2-203-2142 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/brussels

Bucharest 40-21-233-2171~3 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/bucharest

Budapest 36-1-799-5400 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/budapest

Copenhagen 45-3312-6658 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/copenhagen

Frankfurt 49-69-242-992-0 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/frankfurt

Hamburg 49-40-3405-740 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/hamburg

Helsinki 358-9-682-9490 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/helsinki

Milano 39-02-795813 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/milano

Munich 49-89-2424-2630 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/munich

Paris 33-1-55-35-88-88 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/paris

Prague 420-245-005-656 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/prague

Sofia 359-2-969-5030 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/sofia

Stockholm 46-8-30-8090 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/stockholm

Vienna 43-1-586-3876 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/vienna

Warsaw 48-22-520-6230 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/warsaw

Zagreb 385-1-4815-101 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/zagreb

Zurich 41-44-503-5300 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/zurich

CIS

Almaty 7-727-222-32-32 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/almaty

Baku 994-12-436-7560/1 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/baku

Damascus
(Integrated with the 
Amman Trade Office)

962-6-510-4060 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/amman

Kiev 380-44-495-2951 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/kiev

Minsk 375-17-200-0168~9 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/minsk

Moscow 7-495-258-1627~8 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/moscow

Novosibirsk 7-383-319-6508, 6509,
070-7001-0607 https://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/novosibirsk

Saint Petersburg 7-812-244-1341 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/saintpetersburg

Tashkent 998-71-140-0215/6 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/tashkent

Ulaanbaatar 976-7711-0140 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/ulaanbaatar
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Region City Phone Website

CIS Vladivostok 7-423-240-7105 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/vladivostok

Middle East

Doha 974-4016-2603 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/doha

Dubai 971-4-450-4360 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/dubai

Riyadh 966-11-273-4496 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/riyadh

Middle East

Alger 213-23-47-39-09 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/alger

Amman 962-6-510-4060 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/amman

Baghdad 964-772-224-4629 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/baghdad

Cairo 20-2-2754-5319/5329 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/cairo

Casablanca 212-522-98-96-27, 
98-46-36 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/casablanca

Istanbul 90-212-325-3646 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/istanbul

Kuwait 965-2243-6933 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/kuwait

Muscat 968-2411-7011~3 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/muscat

Tehran 98-21-2637-6506, 6558 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/tehran

Tel Aviv 972-9-763-6341 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/telaviv

Tripoli
(Integrated with 
Cairo Trade Office)

20-2-2754-5319/5329 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/cairo

Africa

Abidjan 225-27-2251-4715 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/abidjan

Accra 233-302-764-367 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/accra

Addis Ababa 251-113-204305 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/addisababa

Daressalaam 255-22-292-2201/2 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/daressalaam

Johannesburg 27-11-784-2940 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/johannesburg

Khartoum 249-183-498-845 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/khartoum

Lagos 234-1-453-0500 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/lagos

Maputo 258-21-487-072 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/maputo

Nairobi 254-718-220-458 http://www.kotra.or.kr/KBC/nairobi

2) Embassy in Seoul
Country Phone Website

Afghanistan 02-793-3535 -

Algerie 02-794-5034/5 http://www.algerianemb.or.kr

Angola 02-792-8463 http://www.angolaembassy.or.kr

Argentina 02-796-8144 https://www.ecore.cancilleria.gob.ar

Austraila 02-2003-0100 https://www.southkorea.embassy.gov.au

Austria 02-721-1700 https://www.bmeia.gv.at/oeb-seoul

Bangladesh 02-796-4056/7 http://www.bdembassykorea.org

Belarus 02-2237-8171 http://www.korea.mfa.gov.by/ko
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Country Phone Website

Belgium 02-749-0381~4 https://www.republicofkorea.diplomatie.belgium.be/ko

Bolivia 02-318-1767/2627 https://www.embolcorea.com

Brazil 02-738-4970 http://www.seul.itamaraty.gov.br/ko

Brunei 02-790-1078/9 -

Bulgaria 02-794-8625/6 -

Cambodia 02-3785-1041/6 -

Canada 02-3783-6000 https://www.canadainternational.gc.ca/korea-coree

Chile 02-779-2610 https://www.chile.gob.cl/corea-del-sur

China 02-738-1038 http://kr.china-embassy.org/kor/

Congo 02-722-7958 -

Costa Rica 02-707-9249/9254 -

Côte d'Ivoire 02-3785-0561/2 -

Croatia 02-310-9660 -

Denmark 02-6363-4800 -

East Timor 02-797-6151 -

Ecuador 02-739-2401/2 -

Egypt 02-749-0787/9 -

El Salvador 02-753-3432/3 -

Ethiopia 02-790-9766 -

Fiji 02-792-6396 https://www.fijiembassy.co.kr

Finland 02-3701-0300 http://www.finland.or.kr/public

France 02-3149-4300 https://www.kr.ambafrance.org

Gabon 02-793-9575/6 -

Georgia 02-792-7118/7171 -

Germany 02-748-4114 https://seoul.diplo.de/kr-ko

Ghana 02-3785-1427, 02-749-8982/3 https://ghanaembassy.or.kr

Greece 02-729-1400/1 -

Guatemala 02-771-7582/3 -

Honduras 02-738-8402 https://www.hondurasembassykr.com

Hungary 02-792-2105 https://szoul.mfa.gov.hu/kor

India 02-792-4257 -

Indonesia 02-783-5675/7 https://www.kemlu.go.id/seoul/lc

Iran 02-793-7751/3 http://www.seoul.kfa.ir

Iraq 02-790-4202/3 -

Ireland 02-721-7200 https://www.dfa.ie/irish-embassy/republic-of-korea

Israel 02-3210-8500 https://www.embassies.gov.il/seoul

Italy 02-750-0200/0201 https://www.ambseoul.esteri.it

Japan 02-739-7400 https://www.kr.emb-japan.go.jp/itprtop_ko/index.html
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Country Phone Website

Jordan 02-318-2897 http://www.jordankorea.gov.jo

Kazakhstan 02-379-9714 http://www.mfa.gov.kz/seoul

Kenya 02-3785-2903 http://www.kenya-embassy.or.kr

Kuwait 02-3270-8715/6 -

Laos 02-796-1713 http://www.korlaos.or.kr/c/embassy/

Latvia 02-2022-3800 https://www.mfa.gov.lv/kr

Lebanon 02-794-6482 http://www.seoul.mfa.gov.lb/seoul

Libya 02-797-6001/2 -

Malaysia 02-2077-8600 -

Marshall Islands - -

Mexico 02-798-1694 https://www.embamex.sre.gob.mx/corea

Mongolia 02-798-3464 http://www.mongolembassy.com

Morocco 02-793-6249 -

Myanmar 02-790-3814/6 -

Nepal 02-3789-9770/1 -

New Zealand 02-3701-7700 https://www.mfat.govt.nz/korea

Nicaragua 02-6272-1670 -

Nigeria 02-797-2370/3280 http://www.nigerianembassy.or.kr

Norway 02-727-7100 https://www.norway.no

Oman 02-790-2431 -

Pakistan 02-796-8252/0312 http://www.pkembassy.or.kr

Panama 02-734-8610/1 http://panama.embaseoul.kr/

Paraguay 02-792-1173 http://www.embaparcorea.org

Paua New Guinea 02-2198-5771 -

Peru 02-757-1735/7 -

Poland 02-723-9681 https://www.gov.pl/web/hanguk

Portugal 02-3675-2251/3 https://www.seul.embaixadaportugal.mne.pt

Qatar 02-798-2444/6 http://www.seoul.embassy.qa

Republic of South 
Africa 02-2077-5900 http://www.southafrica-embassy.or.kr

Rumania 02-797-4924, 02-790-3718 http://www.seoul.mae.ro

Russia 02-318-2116/8 https://www.korea-seoul.mid.ru

Rwanda 02-798-1052 http://www.rwanda-embassy.or.kr

Saudi Arabia 02-739-0631~4 https://embassies.mofa.gov.sa/sites/SouthKorea/AR/Pages/default.aspx

Senegal 02-745-5554 http://www.kor.senegalembassy.or.kr

Serbia 02-797-5109, 02-798-5109 http://www.seoul.mfa.gov.rs

Sierra Leone 02-792-8911 http://www.sierra-leone.or.kr

Singapore 02-774-2464 https://www.mfa.gov.sg/seoul
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Country Phone Website

Slovakia 02-794-3981 -

Spain 02-794-3581/2 http://www.exteriores.gob.es

Sri Lanka 02-735-2966 http://www.slembassykorea.com

Sudan 02-793-8692 http://www.sudanembassy-seoul.com

Sweden 02-3703-3700 https://www.swedenabroad.se/ko/embassies

Switzerland 02-739-9511 https://www.eda.admin.ch/seoul

Tajikistan 02-792-2535 https://www.mfa.tj/ko/korea

Tanzania 02-793-7007 -

Thailand 02-790-2955 ,02-795-
0095/3098/3253 http://www.thaiembassy.org/seoul/ko

The Azerbaijani 
Republic 02-797-1765/66 http://www.seoul.mfa.gov.az

The Czech Republic 02-720-6765/6453 https://www.mzv.cz/seoul

The Dominican 
Republic 02-756-3513 https://www.embadomcorea.com

The Kirghiz Republic 02-379-0952 https://mfa.gov.kg/kr/dm/---/

The Netherlands 02-311-8600 https://www.netherlandsandyou.nl

The Philippines 02-796-7387/8 http://www.philembassy-seoul.com

The U.K. 02-3210-5500 https://www.gov.uk/world/organisations

The U.S. 02-397-4114 https://www.kr.usembassy.gov/ko

Tunisia 02-790-4334/5 -

Turkey 02-3780-1600 http://www.seul.be.mfa.gov.tr

Turkmenistan 02-796-9975 https://www.korea.tmembassy.gov.tm/ko

Ukraine 02-790-5696 https://korea.mfa.gov.ua/en 

United Arab Emirates 
(UAE) 02-790-3235/7 -

Uruguay 02-6245-3179/3180 -

Uzbekistan 02-574-6554 http://www.uzbekistan.or.kr

Venezuela 02-732-1546/7 http://www.venezuelaemb.or.kr

Vietnam 02-725-2487 http://www.vietnamembassy-seoul.org

Zambia 02-793-1961 -

3) Government Departments
Agency Name Phone Website Language

President
02-730-5800 http://www.president.go.kr Korean, EnglishThe Presidential 

Secretariat
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Agency Name Phone Website Language

Presidential Security 
Service - http://www.pss.go.kr

Korean, EnglishNational Human Rights 
Commission of Korea 02-2125-9700 http://www.humanrights.go.kr

The Board of Audit 
and Inspection 02-2011-2114 http://www.bai.go.kr

National Intelligence 
Service 111 https://www.nis.go.kr Korean, English

The National 
Unification Advisory 

Council
02-2250-2300 http://www.nuac.go.kr

Korean, English, 
Chinese, Japanese, 
Russian, Arabic 

National Economic 
Advisory Council 02-731-2445 https://www.neac.go.kr

Korean, English, 
Chinese, Japanese, 
and other 104 
languages

Presidential Advisory 
Council for Science 

and Technology
02-733-4971 https://www.pacst.go.kr

Korean, English

The Office for 
Government Policy 

Coordination
044-200-2114 http://www.opm.go.kr

Prime Minister's 
Secretariat

Ministry of Patriots 
and Veterans Affairs 1577-0606 http://www.mpva.go.kr

Ministry of Personnel 
Management 110 http://www.mpm.go.kr

Ministry of 
Government 
Legislation

044-200-6900 http://www.moleg.go.kr

Ministry of Food and 
Drug Safety 1577-1255 https://www.mfds.go.kr

Fair Trade Commission 1670-0007 http://www.ftc.go.kr

Financial Services 
Commission 02-2100-2500 http://www.fsc.go.kr

The Anti-Corruption 
& Civil Rights 
Commission

110, 1398 http://www.acrc.go.kr

Nuclear Safety and 
Security Commission 02-397-7300 http://www.nssc.go.kr

Korean, EnglishMinistry of Economy 
and Finance 044-215-2150 http://www.moef.go.kr

National Tax Service 126 http://www.nts.go.kr

Korea Customs 
Service 125 http://www.customs.go.kr

Korean, English, 
Chinese, Japanese, 
Spanish

Public Procurement 
Service 1588-0800 http://www.pps.go.kr Korean, English
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Statistics Korea 110, 02-2012-9114 http://www.kostat.go.kr

Korean, EnglishMinistry of Education 02-6222-6060, 
(Night)044-203-6118 http://www.moe.go.kr

Ministry of Science 
and ICT

1335
(Night)044-202-4180 http://www.msit.go.kr

Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs

02-2100-2114
(Night) 7000, 7001 http://www.mofa.go.kr Korean, English

Ministry of Unification 1577-1365
(Night) 2100-5799 http://www.unikorea.go.kr Korean, English, 

Chinese

Ministry of Justice 02-2110-3000 http://www..moj.go.kr Korean, English

Public Prosecutors' 
Office 02-3480-2000 http://www.spo.go.kr Korean, English, 

Chinese, Japanese

Ministry of National 
Defense 1301 http://www.mnd.go.kr

Korean, English

Military Manpower 
Administration 1588-9090 http://www.mma.go.kr

Defense Acquisition 
Program 

Administration
1577-1118 http://www.dapa.go.kr

Ministry of Public 
Administration and 

Security
02-2100-3399 https://www.mois.go.kr

The National Police 
Agency 182 http://www.police.go.kr

National Fire Agency 044-205-7032
(Night) 044-205-7037 http://www.nfa.go.kr

Korean, English, 
Chinese, Japanese

Ministry of Culture, 
Sports and Tourism 044-203-2000 http://www.mcst.go.kr

Cultural Heritage 
Administration 1600-0064 http://www.cha.go.kr

Ministry of Agriculture, 
Food and Rural Affairs

110
(Night) 044-201-1000 http://www.mafra.go.kr

Korean, English

Rural Development 
Administration

1544-8472, 063-238-
1000
(Night) 063-238-0005~7

http://www.rda.go.kr

Korea Forest Service 1588-3249
(Night) 042-481-4151 http://www.forest.go.kr

Ministry of Trade, 
Industry and Energy

1577-0900
(Night) 044-203-4000 http://www.motie.go.kr

The Korean Intellectual 
Property Office 1544-8080 http://www.kipo.go.kr

Ministry of Health and 
Welfare

129
(Night) 044-202-2118 http://www.mohw.go.kr

Ministry of 
Environment 1577-8866 http://www.me.go.kr
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Agency Name Phone Website Language

Korea Meteorological 
Administration 02-2181-0900 http://www.kma.go.kr Korean, English, 

Chinese, Japanese

Ministry of 
Employment and 

Labor

1350
(Night) 044-202-7999 http://www.moel.go.kr

Korean, English
Ministry of Gender 
Equality and Family 02-2100-6000 http://www.mogef.go.kr

Ministry of Land, 
Infrastructure, and 

Transport

1599-0001
(Night) 044-201-4672 http://www.molit.go.kr

Korean, English
National Agency for 
Administrative City 

Construction
044-200-3000 http://www.naacc.go.kr

Saemangeum 
Development and 

Investment Agency
063-733-1000 http://www.saemangeum.go.kr Korean, English, 

Chinese, Japanese

Ministry of Maritime 
Affairs and Fisheries

110
(Night) 044-200-5990 http://www.mof.go.kr

Korean, EnglishKorea Coast Guard 032-835-2000 http://www.kcg.go.kr

Ministry of SMEs and 
Startups 1357 https://www.mss.go.kr

4) Foreign Economic Organizations in Korea
Name Phone Website

Dutch Business Council 
Korea 02-311-8618 http://www.dbckorea.com

New Zealand Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 010-2782-5494 https://www.kiwichamber.com

Korean-German Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry 02-3780-4600 https://korea.ahk.de

American Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 02-6021-2200 https://www.amchamkorea.org

French-Korean Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry 02-2268-9505 https://www.fkcci.com

Sweden Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 02-739-1466 E-mail: chamber@scckkorea.org, scckinseoul@gmail.com

Ireland Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 02-753-3039 E-mail:desmond@gerardsolutions.com

British Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 02-6365-2300 https://bcck.or.kr/bcck/

European Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 02-6261-2700 https://ecck.eu

Iran Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry in Korea 02-3664-4447 https://www.kicham.org
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Italian Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 02-566-4379 https://www.itcck.org/ 

Indian Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 02-776-1583/0603 http://www.indochamkorea.org/eng/

Seoul Japan Club 02-739-6962/3 http://www.sjchp.co.kr

Canadian Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 02-554-0245/6 http://www.canchamkorea.org/main/main.html

Australian Chamber of 
Commerce in Korea 02-2010-8831/2 http://www.austchamkorea.org

Seoul Office of China 
Council for the Promotion 

of International Trade 
(CCPIT)

02-551-4611 http://en.ccpit.org

※ The above list is prepared based on the official website of the Korea Chamber of Commerce and Industry.
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